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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China Financial International 
Investments Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to present the audited results of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Year”).

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the financial performance and it decreased to 
HK$129,449,000 (2022: HK$572,789,000). During the year, the Group suffered from a loss of 
HK$387,171,000, mainly because of (1) the fair value loss on unlisted investments at fair value through 
profit and loss approximately to HK$333,601,000 and (2) the fair value loss on listed investments at fair 
value through profit and loss approximately to HK$26,659,000.

The net asset value per share was HK1.18 cents, which was calculated on the above net assets value 
and 10,971,634,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in issue as at 30 June 2023.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) will be held at Suite 2001, 20th Floor, Tower 1, 
The Gateway, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong Kong on Friday, 22 March 2024 at 11:00 a.m. Notice of 
AGM will be published and sent to shareholders in the manner as required by the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing 
Rules”) in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The AGM will be held on Friday, 22 March 2024. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote 
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 19 March 2024 to 
Friday, 22 March 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no share transfers will be registered. 
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the above AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by relevant 
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis 
Limited at 17/F, Far East Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. 
on Monday, 18 March 2024.

PROSPECT
The Company is expected to continue to focus on China’s bioethanol sector with the aim to maximize 
value for the Shareholders of the Company.

As the Group’s business is moving forward towards its strategic goals, the Board will carefully assess 
and minimize potential risks and strive to generate more returns to all shareholders.

APPRECIATION
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all of our business partners and Shareholders for their 
continuous support to our Group. I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to all of our staff and 
our Board of Directors for their effort and dedication to the Group.

Du Lin Dong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 December 2023
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The Group was principally engaged in the investments in the listed securities for short and medium term 
and unlisted investments for medium and long term during the Year.

During the Year, a net loss for the year amounted to HK$387,171,000 as compared to a loss of 
HK$215,195,000 for the year ended 30 June 2022. During the Year, dividend income of HK$76,000 
from the unlisted investments recorded. The loss was mainly attributable to the following reasons:

(i) fair value loss of approximately HK$333,601,000 on unlisted investments at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”); and

(ii) fair value loss of approximately HK$26,659,000 on listed investments at FVTPL.

During the Year, dividend income from investments decrease by 96.60% to HK$76,000 as compared 
to HK$2,234,000 in last year. The other income which comprised bank interest income amounted to 
HK$12,000, representing a decrease of 7.69% as compared to HK$13,000 in last year. Administrative 
and other expenses decreased by 10.69% from HK$15,647,000 in last year to HK$13,974,000 this year 
mainly due to the decrease of staff costs and directors’ remunerations.

LISTED INVESTMENT REVIEW
During the Year, the Group recorded the total loss of HK$41,593,000 on listed securities business 
as compared to a loss of HK$19,875,000 last year. No dividend income from listed investments was 
recorded for the Year (2022: Nil).

As at 30 June 2023, the market value of the listed securities amounted to HK$23,867,000 (2022: 
HK$69,383,000), all the listed investments were listed on the Stock Exchange.

Management Discussion And Analysis
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LISTED INVESTMENT REVIEW (continued)
Listed Securities Portfolio

Name of listed securities Nature of business

Number of 

shares held

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Market 

value at 

30 June 

2023

Dividend 

received/

receivable 

during 

the Year

% to the 

Group’s 

net assets 

as at 

30 June 

2023

Investment 

cost

Disposal 

consideration

Realized 

loss

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hidili Industry  

International  

Development Limited

Coal mining and 

manufacture and sale of 

clean coal

2,555,000 0.06% 830 – 0.64% 31,359 3,923 27,436

China City Infrastructure  

Group Limited  

(“China City Infrastructure”)

Infrastructure businesses, 

property investment, 

property development, 

hotel business, property 

management and natural 

gas in the the People’s 

Republic of China (“PRC”)

698,079,429 22.32% 23,037 – 17.80% – – –

23,867 – 27,436

UNLISTED INVESTMENT REVIEW
For the year ended 30 June 2023, the total loss on the Group’s unlisted investment portfolio recorded as 
HK$358,235,000 (2022: HK$193,684,000). The loss was mainly attributable to the decrease in fair value 
of clean energy companies. During the Year, dividend income of HK$76,000 from a unlisted investment, 
Henan Zhongxin Bioenergy Co., Ltd, was recorded (2022: HK$2,234,000).

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of the Group’s unlisted investments amounted to HK$94,163,000 as 
compared to HK$486,785,000 in last year, representing a 80% decrease.
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UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS
The Company’s unlisted equity investments are mainly concentrated on clean energy industry and small 
loan companies in the PRC.

Since 2018, the Group focuses on clean energy industry and made several investments. Bioenergy is a 
carbon neutral and renewable energy source that reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Biofuels such as 
ethanol and biodiesel, are less toxic and are biodegradable. Using biomass can help build resilience in 
agricultural, timber and food-processing industries. Bioenergy provides a use for their waste streams, 
can help them reduce their energy costs.

Meanwhile, small loan industry in the PRC is still facing worries of the decreasing interest rate of private 
lending and the increase of operation risks, resulting in certain small loan companies continue to 
generate overdue loans and incur losses. In view of the slipping performance of the small loan industry, 
the company has plan to exit the investments in small loan industry.

In the foreseeable future, the Company will continuously focus its investment on the bioenergy sector 
and gradually exit the past investment in the small loan industry which aim to maximize value of the 
shareholders of the Company.

Unlisted equity investment portfolio

Name of company Notes Location

Group’s 
effective 
interest Business nature Cost

Fair value 
at 30 June 

2023

% to 
the Group’s 

net assets 
as at 30 June 

2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Micro-loan services

1 Tianjin Rongshun  
Microfinance Limited

Tianjin 30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

36,606 – –

2 Harbin Zhongjinguoxin 
Microfinance Co., Ltd. 
(“Harbin Zhongjinguoxin”)

(1) Harbin, 
Heilongjiang 
Province

30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

36,693 – –

3 Tianjin Binlian Microfinance 
Limited

Tianjin 3.3% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

12,271 – –

4 Ziyang Yanjiang CFI GuoSen 
Microfinance Co., Ltd.

Ziyang, Sichuan 
Province

30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

73,730 – –

5 Nanjing Jiangning 
MingYangRongTong 
Agricultural Microfinance 
Co., Ltd.

Nanjing, Jiangsu 
Province

30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation service

36,673 – –

Sub-total: 195,973 –
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Name of company Notes Location

Group’s 
effective 
interest Business nature Cost

Fair value 
at 30 June 

2023

% to 
the Group’s 

net assets 
as at 30 June 

2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantee service

6 Jiangxi Huazhang Hanchen 
Guarantee Group Limited 
(“Jiangxi Huazhang”)

(2) Nanchang, Jiangxi 
Province

2.06% Provision of financing guarantees 
to small and medium 
enterprises (“SMEs”)

43,150 10,715 8.28%

Investment and management consultation service

7 Shenzhen Zhongtoujinxin 
Asset Management 
Company Limited

Shenzhen, 
Guangdong 
Province

30% Provision of consultation services 
on project investments

18,350 – –

8 Xi’an Kairong Financial  
Service Limited

Xi’an, Shaanxi 
Province

30% Provision of financial 
management services

18,724 – –

Sub-total: 37,074 –

Clean energy

9 Henan Tianguan Energy and 
Biotechnology Company 
Limited (“Henan Tianguan”)

(3) Hunan Province 30% Production and sales of 
denatured fuel ethanol, sales 
of acetone, butanol, polyols, 
production and sales of 
biodegradable plastics and 
biodiesel, sales of chemical 
products, wheat bran flour, 
feed sales, acetic acid and 
acetaldehyde production

230,763 38,725 29.92%

10 Hunan South China New 
Energy Limited  
(“South China New Energy”)

(4) Hunan Province 30% New energy technologies 
development, transfer and 
consultation, research and 
development, manufacturing 
and sales of chemical 
products, chemical reagents 
and auxiliaries (excluding 
hazardous chemicals and 
precursor chemicals)

51,200 – –

11 Henan Keyi Huirui  
Energy and Biotechnology 
Company Limited  
(“Keyi Huirui”)

(5) 30% Biotechnology energy 
technology development 
transfer and consultation, 
research and development, 
manufacturing and sales of 
biotechnology energy and 
chemical equipment

117,450 – –

12 Henan Zhongxin Petrochemical 
Oil Trading Limited

(6) 30% Engage in petrol station 
operation

52,084 20,147 15.56%

UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS (continued)
Unlisted equity investment portfolio (continued)



Management Discussion And Analysis
　

China Financial International Investments Limited08

Name of company Notes Location

Group’s 
effective 
interest Business nature Cost

Fair value 
at 30 June 

2023

% to 
the Group’s 

net assets 
as at 30 June 

2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

13 Henan Zhongxin 
Biotechnology Limited

(6) 30% Engage in biotechnology and 
Ethanol bio-chemical product 
development and production 
of ethanol chemical products

52,084 13,030 10.06%

Sub-total: 503,581 71,902

Others

14 Jilin Jusheng Light Alloy Co., 
Ltd (“Jusheng Light Alloy”)

(7) 30% Corn distribution, grain 
purchase, storage (excluding 
hazardous chemicals); sales of 
building materials, mechanical 
and electrical products, 
communication equipment, 
chemical products (excluding 
hazardous chemicals), 
aluminum alloy strip, foil 
production and product 
processing. 

65,400 11,546 8.92%

Total: 845,178 94,163

Notes:

(1) On 22 December 2016, the Company entered into a disposal agreement to dispose of all of its equity interest in 
Harbin Zhongjinguoxin to an independent third party for a cash consideration of RMB25,000,000. A deposit of 
HK$2,500,000 has been received which was included in receipt in advance in “other payables and accruals” as 
at 30 June 2023 and 2022. As at the date of this announcement, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, 
this disposal transaction has yet been completed after 12 months from the date of the disposal agreement but the 
transaction still be considered as valid.

(2) On 13 April 2011, the Group acquired a 30% equity interest of Jiangxi Huazhang, a joint venture establish in the 
PRC. The Group’s equity interest in Jiangxi Huazhang became 7.2% on 15 July 2013 and reduce to 2.98% on 19 
August 2016 and further dropped to 2.06% on 23 September 2021, as Jiangxi Huazhang was enlarged by the new 
registered capital subscribed by its other shareholders on these dates.

(3) On 11 May 2018, the Company entered into the joint venture agreement with the joint venture partners in relation 
to the formation of the Henan Tianguan in Henan province, the PRC. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, the 
Company owned 30% of the registered capital of the Henan Tianguan. On 31 July 2018, Henan Tianguan increased 
the registered capital from RMB300,000,000 to RMB660,000,000 hence Keyi (Shanghai) Investments Limited 
(“Keyi”) and Joy State Holdings Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, further injected RMB30,000,000 
and RMB78,000,000 respectively.

(4) In January 2019, Keyi entered into an agreement with South China New Energy to inject capital contribution of 
RMB45,000,000 into South China New Energy for acquiring 30% of South China New Energy’s equity interest. On 
23 January 2019, the legal title of 30% equity interest in South China New Energy has been successfully transferred 
to Keyi.

(5) In August 2019, Keyi entered into an agreement with three partners in relation to the formation of Keyi Huirui. The 
registered capital of Keyi Huirui is RMB350,000,000. Keyi injected RMB105,000,000 for acquiring 30% of Keyi 
Huirui’s equity interest. On 5 September 2019, Keyi Huirui was officially set up.

UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS (continued)
Unlisted equity investment portfolio (continued)
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UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS (continued)
Unlisted equity investment portfolio (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(6) On 16 March 2020, the Company executed a cooperation agreement with the People’s Government of Nanyang of 
the PRC, Sinopec Marketing Company Limited and South South Asia Pacific Bioenergy Limited, in relation to the 
formation of two joint venture companies, Henan Zhongxin Petrochemical Oil Trading Limited and Henan Zhongxin 
Biotechnology Limited. The Company acquired 30% equity interest in both companies.

(7) On 18 June 2020, Keyi (Shanghai) entered into the capital increase agreement with Jusheng Light Alloy to inject 
capital contribution of RMB60,000,000 into Jusheng Light Alloy for acquiring 30% of Jusheng Light Alloy’s equity 
interest.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$606,000 (2022: HK$39,600,000). 
Majority of the cash and bank balances denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars 
and Renminbi are placed with banks in Hong Kong and the PRC. The current ratio (calculated as the 
current assets to the current liabilities) of the Group as at 30 June 2023 was approximately 1.93 times 
(2022: 2.84 times), gearing ratio (total liabilities to total assets) of the Group as at 30 June 2023 was 
approximately 18.72% (2022: 5.52%).

The Group did not have any bank borrowing as at 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year (2022: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s shareholders’ equity and total number of shares in issue for the 
Company stood at HK$129,449,000 (2022: HK$572,789,000) and approximately 10,971,634,000 
(2022: 10,971,634,000), respectively.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi are the main currencies of the Group to carry out its business 
transactions. During the Year, transactions in Renminbi were not significant, the Board considers that the 
Group’s exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates was insignificant.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 8 (2022: 11) employees (including Directors). The total staff costs 
(including Directors’ remuneration) of the Group for the Year was HK$8,639,000 (2022: HK$10,358,000). 
The remuneration package of the employees is determined by various factors including the employees’ 
experience and performance, the market condition, industry practice and applicable employment law.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE DISCLAIMER OF AUDIT OPINION
In connection with the independent auditor’s disclaimer of opinion set forth in the section headed 
“INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT” (the “Disclaimer of Audit Opinion”), the Company would like 
to provide shareholders and potential investors with additional information regarding the matters from 
which the Disclaimer of Audit Opinion has arisen, and the views of the Company’s management (the 
“Management”) and the Company’s Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”).

1. In respect of “Material uncertainties relating to going concern”

As explained in the section headed note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, 
notwithstanding that the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2023 have been prepared on a going concern basis, there are conditions together with other 
matters about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In view of such conditions, 
the Company has, during the course of audit, provided to the Company’s auditor (“Auditor”) 
with all available information and has given careful consideration to the Group’s current liquidity, 
performance and available resources in considering the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The Company has taken and will continue to implement the measures as further 
detailed in note 3 to rectify the matters in relation to the disclaimer of opinion. Based on the plans 
and measures, the Board is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidate financial 
statements on a going concern basis.

Action plan to address the material uncertainties relating to going concern
It is the intention of the Company to rectify the conditions in relation to the Disclaimer of Audit 
Opinion, the Company had taken and continue to implement the measures as further detailed in 
note 3 and listed below:

(i) Expediting and reviewing its investments and actively considering to realise certain financial 
assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$98,669,000 and equity instruments at FVTOCI of 
HK$19,361,000, in order to enhance the cash flow position of the Group whenever it is 
necessary, in which the amount of HK$15,221,000 included in financial assets at FVTPL 
and HK$8,646,000 included in equity instruments at FVTOCI are listed equity securities 
in Hong Kong, were measured at the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant 
exchange at the end of the reporting period. The Board considered these listed equity 
securities are high liquidity and could be realized into cash to meet any financial obligations 
that fall due in the next twelve months from the date of issuance of this report. Also, the 
total market value of the listed equity securities are approximately HK$47,101,000 as at the 
announcement date.

(ii) Obtaining financial support by the Group from a shareholder and director of the Company 
to meet the Group’s immediate financial obligations when they fall due, in which the Board 
considered such financial support from Mr. Du is an alternative financial support and 
provide more confidence to the stakeholders.

(iii) Implementation of active cost-saving measures, in which the Group continues to take 
active measures to control administrative costs through various channels, such as reduce 
the salary of the Executive Director, Mr. Du, from HK$3,000,000 annually to HK$700,000 
annually effective from 1 January 2024 and etc, to improve operating cash flows and its 
financial position. 
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(iv) Obtaining new source of finance to improve working capital requirements.

Management of the Group renewed and extended with existing other the existing borrowings 
upon their maturities, in which the borrowing of HK$9,997,000 (with principal amount of 
HK$10,000,000) has been renewed on 1 July 2023 with maturity date on 30 June 2026. Besides, 
the Board will also negotiate and obtain new loan facilities with other sources of finance when 
necessary.

2. In respect of “Prepayments for investments and consideration receivable for disposal of 
an investment”

As detailed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 30 
June 2023, the Group made certain prepayments totaling HK$29,092,000 (equivalent to 
RMB26,827,000) (the “Prepayments”) intended as capital injection for two unlisted investments 
(i.e. financial assets at FVTPL) and these amounts included in the prepayments, deposits and 
other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023. In the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, such amounts will be recorded as investment costs for 
unlisted investment included in financial assets at FVTPL once all their existing investors paying 
up the additional capital. All the investors have the consensus that the official capital registration 
procedure for the capital injection of all existing investors shall be  completed simultaneously in 
order to avoid any dilution effect to any existing investor or leading the Company holding more 
than 30% equity interests in any of the investees that is not allowed under the Listing Rules. 
Subsequently, there was no additional capital injection made from other investors into these 
entities up to the end of reporting period, and hence the Group are in the process of retrieving 
these amounts from the two investees. However, such amounts have yet been received by the 
Group as of the date of these consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.

Moreover, during the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group disposed of an unlisted investment 
to an independent third party at a cash consideration of HK$9,723,000 (equivalent to 
RMB9,000,000), in which the Group provided one-year credit period to the purchaser and such 
amount was recorded as consideration receivable of disposal of an unlisted investment (the 
“Consideration Receivable”) included in the consolidated statement of financial position. However, 
such amount has yet been received by the Group as of the date of these consolidated financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Since the Board considered that (i) the nature and reasons of making the Prepayment and 
Consideration Receivable reflected the intended purpose of making such prepayments to the 
investees by the Group and granting a longer credit period for getting the exit opportunity of that 
investment; (ii) they have been in the process of negotiating with the counterparties for recovering 
the Prepayments and Consideration Receivable, and the counterparties agreed to repay the 
amounts to the Group before 31 March 2024 and it is before the next financial year ending 30 
June 2024, and hence the Board considered the Prepayments and the Consideration Receivable 
could be recoverable, and therefore no impairment in respect of either of these amounts has 
been made in the financial statements or other material misstatement shall be reflected on the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023. 
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As such, the Board expects that this disclaimer related to the Prepayments and Consideration 
Receivable for disposal of an investment as of 30 June 2023 would not have significant carried 
forward impact to and will be removed in the independent auditor’s report for the financial year 
ending 30 June 2024, except for the effect on the comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 
2023.

In view of the foregoing, and assuming all of the Company’s plans or actions can be completed 
as planned, including the obtaining of new financing, and no new circumstances and conditions 
have occurred, subject to satisfactory completion of review of the Management’s assessment 
of the Group’s going concern and the Auditors being satisfied with the documents, information 
and evidence to be provided by the Company going forward, the Directors are of the view that 
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they 
fall due in the next twelve months from the date of these consolidated financial statements 
being authorised for issue, and the Prepayment and Consideration Receivable are expected to 
be recoverable, and hence the Company is hopeful that that the Disclaimer may be removed 
in connection with the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ending 30 June 2024. 

Audit committee’s view on the Disclaimer and the responses from the management
The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the major basis of the disclaimer of opinion on the 
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 and also the 
management’s position, action plans and above responses of the Group to address the disclaimer 
of opinion.

The Audit Committee is in agreement with the management’s position for the responses set out 
as above with respect to the issues set out in the disclaimer of opinion and the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, in particular the actions and measures taken and to be implemented 
by the management and the Group. The Board has obtained an understanding with the Auditor 
that the Company considers itself to have addressed the issues giving rise to the disclaimer of 
opinion in the consolidated financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2023 and in the light 
of the measures and expectation and barring unforeseen circumstances, a disclaimer of opinion in 
respect of the same issues may no longer be required to be included in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending 30 June 2024 when all the measures and expectation being fully 
implemented, except for the qualification on the effect on the comparative figures for the year 
ended 30 June 2023.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Du Lin Dong ("Mr. Du"), aged 56, currently as the chairman and chief executive officer of the 
Company. He was also the chief executive officer of China Water Affairs Group Limited (Stock code: 
855), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Du has over 25 years' experience 
in investment and finance sector in the PRC and he had held senior management positions in 
various unlisted investment companies incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Du is also the director of various 
subsidiaries of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. Chen Xi, aged 39, obtained a master degree in economics from University of San Francisco in 2008 
and a bachelor degree in business from Nanjing University in 2006. Ms. Chen has been an oversea 
investment director of Century Golden Resources Group (“Century Golden”) since June 2016, where she 
joined as a senior investment manager in April 2010, and was promoted to the position of vice general 
manager in the investment department in February 2012. Prior to joining Century Golden, Ms. Chen was 
a financial trust analyst in a unit trust investment company in the United States from January 2008 to 
September 2009.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Jing, aged 68, is currently a director of private equity investment of Oriental Patron Financial 
Group Limited in Hong Kong. Mr. Zhang has over 22 years of experiences in corporate management. 
Mr. Zhang served as the general manager of China Security Limited（中國中安保有限公司）. Prior to 
this, Mr. Zhang was the deputy general manager of Sichuan Jinguang Group（四川金廣集團）. He also 
served as the director and deputy general manager of collective economic management department of 
China Yituo Group（中國一拖集團）and the chief financial officer of First Tractor Company Limited. Mr. 
Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial accounting from Henan Radio & Television University 
and a master’s degree in management engineering from Jiangsu University. Mr. Zhang appointed as 
independent non-executive director of New City Development Group Limited (stock code: 0456) since 
June 2016.

Mr. Wong Lok Man, aged 41, obtained a Diploma of Business Administration from Sydney Institute of 
Business and Technology in 2003 and Bachelor of Commerce-Accounting from Macquarie University in 
2005. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants with over 15 years of 
accounting and audit experience, including, among others, as the chief financial officer and company 
secretary of L & A International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8195) from October 2013 to May 2016 
and as the group financial controller, joint company secretary and authorised representative of Kaisun 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8203) from August 2020 to April 2021, and as financial controller and 
company secretary of Zhonghua Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 8246) since June 2021, the issued 
shares of above mentioned companies are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Wong was also appointed as an independent non-executive director 
of China Trustful Group Limited (stock code: 8265) which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange 
from December 2020 to November 2021. China Trustful Group Limited was eventually delisted on 12 
November 2021 after failing to fulfil the resumption guidance set by the Stock Exchange.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Won Tsz Lun, aged 39, joined the Group in August 2018 and is currently the financial controller 
of the Group. He has over 10 years of experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and financial 
management. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from La Trobe University of 
Melbourne in Australia in 2006. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants since January 2011. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong worked for Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu from January 2007 to August 2014. From October 2015 to December 2017, Mr. Wong was 
the company secretary of China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 3963), 
the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

DISCLOSURE ON CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in details of the Directors’ information 
subsequent to the date of the annual report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2023 are set 
out below:

Name Details of Change

Ms. Li Jie Resigned as a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 15 July 2022

Mr. Ding Xiaobin Resigned as a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 15 July 2022

Mr. Zhang Huayu Retired as a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 2 December 2022

* The English translation of the Chinese name of the relevant organisation or entity included in this announcement is 
for identification and reference only, and is not the official English name of such organisation or entity.
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The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are investment holding and investing in listed 
and unlisted companies established and/or doing business in Hong Kong and other parts of the PRC. 
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the financial statements. 
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Year.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 54.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: 
Nil).

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER 
STAKEHOLDERS
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers, customers, 
employees and other stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term goals. Although there 
were no major customers and suppliers during the Year, as disclosed in the section headed “Major 
Customers and Suppliers” on page 16 of this annual report, the Company has created a framework for 
motivating staff and a formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy relationships with its 
employees and other stakeholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group pays attention to legal and regulatory requirements in designing its policies and practices. 
Legal and compliance advisers will be engaged when necessary to ensure the Group operates in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 128. This summary does not form 
part of the audited financial statements.

Report of Directors
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in 
note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the Year are set out in 
notes 26 and 28 to the financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) or the 
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing 
Shareholders.

PURCHASES, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s 
listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the Year are set out in 
note 36 to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 56 
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 30 June 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, comprising share premium, 
contributed surplus and accumulated losses in aggregate, amounted to HK$75,021 (2022: 
HK$442,688,000) calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
A substantial portion of the Group’s income is derived from the Group’s investments and bank deposits 
and thus the disclosure of information regarding customers would not be meaningful. The Group has no 
major suppliers of which disclosure is required.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Director:
Mr. Du Lin Dong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ding Xiaobin (resigned on 15 July 2022)
Mr. Zhang Huayu (Vice Chairman, retired on 2 December 2022)
Ms. Li Jie (resigned on 15 July 2022)
Ms. Chen Xi
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Jing
Mr. Zeng Xianggao (resigned on 29 December 2023)
Mr. Wong Lok Man

According to Bye-laws 88(1) and 88(2), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the 
time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than 
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement 
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

According to Bye-law 87(2), any Director appointed to fill in a casual vacancy on the Board shall hold 
office only until the next general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that 
meeting.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the provisions of 
the Bye-laws.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 13 to 14 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Mr. Du Lin Dong entered into a service agreement with the Company on 23 June 2010, pursuant to 
which Mr. Du Lin Dong was appointed to act as executive Director and the chairman of the Board for 
a period of 3 years from the date of the agreement at an annual remuneration of HK$3,000,000, a 
housing allowance of not more than HK$50,000 per month and an annual fee of HK$120,000 for his 
office as executive Director. Under the service agreement, either party needs to give not less than 3 
months’ written notice to the other party in case of early termination of the appointment. The service 
agreement was amended on 8 October 2013, 8 June 2015, 1 July 2016, 1 July 2017 and 28 February 
2018, pursuant to which Mr. Du Lin Dong resigned as the chairman of the Board and was appointed as 
the chief executive officer of the Company on 8 October 2013, and appointed as the chairman of the 
Board on 8 June 2015, his annual remuneration was increased to HK$5,000,000 with effect from 1 July 
2016, decreased to HK$3,000,000 with effect from 1 July 2017, increased to HK$5,000,000 with effect 
from 28 February 2018, decreased to HK$3,000,000 with effect from 1 January 2021 and decreased 
to HK$700,000 with effect from 1 January 2024, respectively. The other terms of the service agreement 
remain unchanged.

Save as disclosed above, no Directors have entered into service contracts with the Company which are 
not determinable by the Company within 1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive in the 
shares, share options, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong (the “SFO”)) which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they 
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Number of issued ordinary shares held Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

in the Company

Name of

Director Capacity

Personal

interests

Interests of

spouse

Corporate

interests

Total

interests

Du Lin Dong Beneficial owner and interests of 

controlled corporation

173,624,830 – – 173,624,830 1.58%

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, none of the Directors nor the chief executive had or 
was deemed to have any interests and short positions in the shares, share options, underlying shares 
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken 
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the 
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES
The register of substantial shareholders maintained under section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 30 
June 2023, the Company had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’ interests or short 
positions, being 5% or more of the Company’s ordinary shares and underlying shares:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

Number of issued ordinary shares held Approximately
percentage

of shareholding
in the Company

Name of
Shareholder Capacity Notes

Personal
interests

Interests of
spouse

Corporate
interests

Total
interests

Gan Xiaoqing Beneficial owner 1,117,780,000 – – 1,117,780,000 10.19%

Jumbo View Holdings  
Limited

Beneficial owner (1) 1,016,860,000 – – 1,016,860,000 9.27%

Zhang Gui Interests of controlled  
corporation

(1) – 1,016,860,000 – 1,016,860,000 9.27%

Zhang Zuhao Beneficial owner 1,000,000,000 – – 1,000,000,000 9.11%

Century Golden Resources 
Investment Co., Ltd 

Beneficial owner (2) 1,000,000,000 – – 1,000,000,000 9.11%

Huang Shiying Interests of controlled  
corporation

(2) – – 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 9.11%

Huang Tao Interests of controlled  
corporation

(2) – – 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 9.11%

Notes:

(1) 70% of the issued share capital of Jumbo View Holdings Limited is owned by Mr. Zhang Gui, and Mr. Zhang Gui is 
therefore deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares held by Jumbo View Holdings Limited.

(2) 40% and 50% of the issued share capital of Century Golden Resources Investment Co., Limited is owned by 
Mr. Huang Shiying and Mr. Huang Tao, respectively, and Mr. Huang Shiying and Mr. Huang Tao are therefore deemed 
to be interested in the ordinary shares held by Century Golden Resources Investment Co., Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, the Company has not been notified by any other persons, 
not being a Director or chief executive of the Company, who has interests or short positions in the 
ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more of the Company’s 
issued share capital.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS 
OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a 
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 
of the Year or at any time during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

The emoluments payable to the Directors are determined with reference to responsibilities, years of 
service and performance of each individual, the results of the Group and the prevailing market rates.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation or a confirmation letter of 
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs 
are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the 
Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may 
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of 
their duty, or supposed duty, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of 
any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the Directors. The Company has taken out and maintained 
appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s principal activity is investing in listed and unlisted investments and other related financial 
assets. Details of the principal risks and uncertainties relating to the investments of the Group are set 
out in notes 4, 30 and 31 to the financial statements. The activity of the Group is also affected by the 
volatility and uncertainty of the world wide economies.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable 
development. As a responsible enterprise, the Company is in compliance with all the material relevant 
laws and regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmental friendliness, health as well as safety 
and adopts effective measures, conserves energy and reduces waste.

The Board is pleased to present you the environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG Report”) 
set out on pages 35 to 49 of this annual report which depicts the performance on the sustainability of 
the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme” section 
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
In light of the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company adopted a share option 
scheme (the “Scheme”) on 15 December 2017. Under the Scheme, the Directors may grant share 
options to those participants who, in the opinion of the Board, have contributed or may contribute to 
the development and growth of the Group and any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest. 
Further details of the Scheme are disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, at no time during the Year was the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 
body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the Year, the Group had the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which 
are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(a) Non-exempted continuing connected transaction
Investment management agreement
An investment management agreement (the “Investment Management Agreement”) was entered 
into between the Company and an associate, China Financial International Investments & 
Managements Limited (“CFIIM”) on 28 April 2020 to renew the appointment of CFIIM as the 
investment manager of the Company for a further period of three years effective from 29 April 
2020 to 28 April 2023. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, CFIIM is entitled 
to a management fee which is receivable monthly in arrears at the rate of 0.75% per annum of 
the aggregate market value of the portfolio managed by CFIIM on the last business day of each 
calendar month.

The Investment Management Agreement expired on 28 April 2023 and a new investment 
management agreement (the “New Investment Management Agreement”) was entered into 
accordingly on 28 April 2023 to renew the appointment of CFIIM as the investment manager of 
the Company for a further period of three years effective from 29 April 2023 to 28 April 2026. 
Pursuant to the New Investment Management Agreement, CFIIM is entitled to a management fee 
which is receivable monthly in arrears at the rate of 0.75% per annum of the aggregate market 
value of the portfolio managed by CFIIM on the last business day of each calendar month.

The aggregate management fees payable to CFIIM under the Investment Management Agreement 
and the New Investment Management Agreement are subject to the following caps:

– not exceeding HK$6,000,000 annually from 29 April 2020 to 28 April 2023

– not exceeding HK$500,000 annually from 29 April 2023 to 28 April 2026

During the Year, the aggregate management fees paid/payable by the Company to CFIIM 
under the Investment Management Agreement together with the New Investment Management 
Agreement to CFIIM amounted to HK$148,000 (2022: HK$356,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Non-exempted continuing connected transaction (continued)

Investment management agreement (continued)
CFIIM, being the investment manager of the Company, is regarded as a connected person of the 
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules. In addition, CFIIM is an associate of the 
Company who holds 29% of the entire issued shares of CFIIM. Accordingly, the services rendered 
under the Investment Management Agreement and the New Investment Management Agreement 
constitute a non-exempted continuing connected transaction of the Company.

The aforesaid continuing connected transaction has been reviewed by the INEDs of the Company. 
The INEDs confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transaction was entered into (i) in 
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) 
in accordance with the Investment Management Agreement and the New Investment Management 
Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the 
Shareholders as a whole.

Moore CPA Limited, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing 
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 
3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information 
and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions 
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Moore CPA Limited have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and 
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transaction disclosed above by the Group in 
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided 
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

(b) Continuing connected transaction exempted from reporting, annual review, 
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
Custodian agreement
Pursuant to the custodian agreement (the “Custodian Agreement”) dated 12 June 2007, the 
Company appointed Bank of Communications Trustee Limited as its custodian with effect from 12 
June 2007. The custodian has agreed to provide securities services to the Company, including the 
safe custody and physical settlement of the securities in the investment portfolio of the Company, 
and the collection of dividends and other entitlements in respect of such securities. The Custodian 
Agreement will continue in force until it is terminated by either the Company or the custodian by 
giving to the other not less than 90 days’ notice in writing expiring at any time. Pursuant to the 
Custodian Agreement, the custodian fee is 0.05% of the net asset value, the minimum charge is 
HK$4,000 per valuation per month and will be billed monthly (i.e., calculated on a monthly basis 
on the net asset value of the portfolio as at the month end), the fund service fee is HK$4,000 per 
month, and the transaction fees are HK$320 per transaction for listed securities and HK$650 per 
unlisted/physical securities transaction. The custodian fee paid/payable during the Year amounted 
to HK$158,000 (2022: HK$156,000).

The custodian is regarded as a connected person of the Company by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of 
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Custodian Agreement constitutes a de-minimis continuing 
connected transaction of the Company under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The INEDs also confirmed that (i) the aggregate value of the annual management fees paid and payable 
by the Company to the investment manager did not exceed the prescribed caps; and (ii) the aggregate 
value of the annual custodian fee to the custodian fell below the de-minimis threshold of the Listing 
Rules and would be exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent 
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its 
Directors, as at the date of this report, there is a public float of more than 25% of the issued share 
capital of the Company.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 were audited by 
Moore CPA Limited, who would retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the Company, and 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the shareholders at 
the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Moore CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Du Lin Dong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
29 December 2023
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The Board is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the 
integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the Shareholders’ value.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the CG Code contained in 
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the disclosure below:

(a) The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive 
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The positions 
of both chairman and chief executive officer of the Company have been held by Mr. Du Lin 
Dong during the Year. Given the Group’s current stage of development, the Board considers 
that this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and 
the management of the Company. Mr. Du Lin Dong possesses the essential leadership skills to 
manage the Board and extensive knowledge in the business of the Group. The Board considers 
the present structure is more suitable for the Company because it can promote the efficient 
formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own 
code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry by the 
Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the 
Year.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Company’s 
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the 
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors of the Board take decisions 
objectively in the interests of the Company. All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum 
of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and 
effective functioning.

The Board reserves for its decision all matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal 
control and risk management, material transactions, financial information, appointment of Directors and 
other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions 
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are 
delegated to the management.

The Directors may have access to the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company 
with a view to ensure that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

In addition, the Directors may, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstance at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate 
appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge 
their duties.

Corporate Governance Report
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition
During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Director:
Mr. Du Lin Dong

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ding Xiaobin (resigned on 15 July 2022)
Mr. Zhang Huayu (resigned on 2 December 2022)
Ms. Li Jie (resigned on 15 July 2022)
Ms. Chen Xi

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Jing
Mr. Zeng Xianggao (resigned on 29 December 2023)
Mr. Wong Lok Man

The Directors are, collectively and individually, aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders. The 
Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 13 to 14 of this annual report.

The Board’s constitution is governed by Bye-law 87(1) under which the number of Directors shall not 
be less than two and Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules under which every board 
of directors of a listed issuer must include at least three independent non-executive directors, at least 
one of the independent non-executive directors must have appropriate professional qualifications or 
accounting or related financial management expertise, and an issuer must appoint independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the board. Its composition also ensures that there 
is a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group and a 
balance of executive and non-executive Directors (including INEDs) so that there is a strong independent 
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business or family relationship among the 
members of the Board during the Year. All of them are free to exercise their individual judgments.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board Diversity Policy
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach 
to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the 
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board and 
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) will review such objectives from time to time to 
ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company 
will also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum 
composition of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should 
be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities 
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. 
The positions of both chairman and chief executive officer of the Company have been held by Mr. Du 
Lin Dong during the Year. Given the Group’s current stage of development, the Board considers that this 
structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management 
of the Company. Mr. Du Lin Dong possesses the essential leadership skills to manage the Board and 
extensive knowledge in the business of the Group. The Board considers the present structure is more 
suitable for the Company because it can promote the efficient formulation and implementation of the 
Company’s strategies.

Independent Non-executive Directors
To determine the non-executive Directors’ independence, assessments are carried out upon 
appointment, annually and at any time where the circumstances warrant reconsideration. Each of the 
INEDs is appointed for a term of not more than 3 years and they are also subject to retirement by 
rotation at least once every 3 years in accordance with Bye-law 88(1) and the CG Code. Also, if an 
INED serves more than 9 years, his further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to be 
approved by Shareholders in accordance with the CG Code.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each INED of his independence pursuant 
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all INEDs to be independent in light of the 
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules. Also, one INED have been serving more than 9 
years: (i) Mr. Zeng Xianggao already offered himself for re-election and his further appointment was 
approved by the Shareholders at the AGM held on 9 December 2021. The Board and the Nomination 
Committee further consider that all INEDs remain independent, notwithstanding their length of tenure. 
They continue to demonstrate the attributes of an INED noted above and there is no evidence that their 
tenure has had any impact on their independence. The Board and the Nomination Committee believe 
that their detailed knowledge and experience of the Group’s business and their external experience 
continue to be of significant benefit to the Company and that they maintain an independent view of its 
affairs.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors
All non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of two years. All Directors are subject to 
retirement by rotation once every three years and are subject to re-election in accordance with the 
Bye-laws.

Continuous Professional Development
The Company provides relevant reading materials to all of the Directors to help ensure that they are 
apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which the Group 
conducts its businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties 
of a listed company director to ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed 
and relevant. In addition, all Directors are encouraged to attend external forums or training courses on 
relevant topics which count towards Continuous Professional Development training.

Corporate governance/updates on laws 
rules and regulations/finance/business

Read materials
Attended seminars/

briefings

Directors

Executive Director
Mr. Du Lin Dong ✓ ✓

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ding Xiaobin ✓ ✓

Mr. Zhang Huayu ✓ ✓

Ms. Li Jie ✓ ✓

Ms. Chen Xi ✓ ✓

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Jing ✓ ✓

Mr. Zeng Xianggao ✓ ✓

Mr. Wong Lok Man ✓ ✓
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THE BOARD (continued)
Meetings
Each Director makes every effort to contribute to the formulation of strategy, policy and decision-
making by attending each meeting, whether in person or by telephonic conference, and each of them 
is prepared to contribute to the Group’s business. All Directors are also encouraged to attend general 
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Shareholders.

Besides the AGM, regular Board meetings and Board committees meetings are held for reviewing, 
discussing, considering and approving the financial and operating performance, the overall strategies 
and policies of the Company.

During the Year, 5 Board meetings, 2 audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, 1 remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) meeting, 1 Nomination Committee meeting, 3 executive 
committee (the “Executive Committee”) meeting, 3 risk management committee (the “Risk Management 
Committee”) meetings and 1 annual general meeting were held. The attendance record of each Director 
was as follows:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Director
Board 

Meeting

Audit 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Executive 
Committee 

Meeting

Risk 
Management 

Committee 
Meeting

General 
Meeting

Mr. Du Lin Dong 5/5 N/A 1/1 N/A 3/3 3/3 1/1
Mr. Ding Xiaobin 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Zhang Huayu 0/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1
Ms. Li Jie 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Ms. Chen Xi 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jing 5/5 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A 3/3 1/1
Mr. Zeng Xianggao 5/5 1/2 N/A 1/1 N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Wong Lok Man 5/5 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A N/A 1/1

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Company has five Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, 
the Nomination Committee, the Executive Committee and the Risk Management Committee, for 
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established 
with defined written terms of reference which are available on the Stock Exchange’s website 
(www.hkexnews.hk) and on the Company’s website (except for the written terms of reference of the 
Executive Committee and the Risk Management Committee which are available to Shareholders upon 
request). All the Board committees should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations 
made. The attendance record of the Board committee members for the Year is shown above.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon 
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at 
the Company’s expenses.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee
As at 30 June 2023, the Audit Committee comprises the following members, all being the INEDs, 
namely, Mr. Zhang Jing (chairman of the Audit Committee) and Mr. Wong Lok Man. None of the 
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the financial information and reports of the Group 
and considering any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of the Group or external 
auditors before submission to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment 
of the external auditors and making the relevant recommendation to the Board; and reviewing the 
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control and risk management system.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has performed the following major duties:

– reviewed and discussed the annual financial statements, results announcement and report for the 
year ended 30 June 2022, the related accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group 
and the relevant audit findings, the report from the management on the Company’s internal control 
and risk management review and processes; and recommendation of the reappointment of the 
external auditors;

– reviewed and discussed the interim financial statements, results announcement and report for 
the six months ended 31 December 2022 and the related accounting principles and practices 
adopted by the Group; and

– reviewed and discussed the internal control and risk management systems.

The external auditors attended all the above meetings to discuss with the Audit Committee members on 
issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the appointment of 
external auditors.

Remuneration Committee
As at 30 June 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises the following members, namely, Mr. Du 
Lin Dong, an executive Director, and Mr. Zhang Jing (chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. 
Wong Lok Man, both of them are INEDs.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the 
Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration packages of Directors 
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent 
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of 
his associates will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined 
by reference to the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and 
conditions.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee  (continued)
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has performed the following major duties:

– generally reviewed the remuneration policy and remuneration package of the Group;

– reviewed and approved the remuneration of the Directors; and

– determine the remuneration package for newly appointment directors.

Details of Directors’ remuneration for the Year are disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee
As at 30 June 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises the following members, all being the INEDs, 
namely, Mr. Zhang Jing (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Mr. Wong Lok Man.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size 
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, formulating relevant 
procedures for nomination of Directors, identifying qualified individuals to become members of the 
Board and making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. 
The nomination should be taken into consideration of the nominee’s qualification, ability and potential 
contributions to the Company and to review the board diversity policy, as appropriate and make 
recommendations on any required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor its 
implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure of its summary and the progress 
of its implementation in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has performed the following major duties:

– reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of Board including the skills, knowledge 
and experience;

– made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors;

– reviewed the policy and procedures for nomination of Directors; and

– assessed the independence of all the Company’s INEDs.

Details of re-appointments were set out in the circular of the Company dated 31 October 2022, all re-
appointments were approved by the Shareholders except the re-appointment of Mr. Zhang Huayu at the 
AGM held on 2 December 2021.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises the executive Director, namely, Mr. Du Lin Dong (chairman of the 
Executive Committee). The Executive Committee has been authorised to make investment decisions on 
behalf of the Group and operate normal course of business of the Group.

Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee comprises the following members, namely, Mr. Du Lin Dong (chairman 
of Risk Management Committee), an executive Director, and Mr. Zhang Jing, an INED. It is mainly 
responsible for enhancing and strengthening the system of risk management of the Group related to 
the unlisted investments and providing comments and recommendations thereon to the Board, and 
identifying such risks of the Group and providing recommendations to the Board.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions with the following duties:

– to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations on changes and updating;

– to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors;

– to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements;

– to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
employees and Directors;

– to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate 
Governance Report; and

– such other corporate governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code (as amended from 
time to time) for which the Board are responsible.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements of the 
Company and ensure that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable 
accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of such financial statements.

As set forth in the sections headed “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT” and “NOTE 3 TO THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”, the Directors are aware that, notwithstanding that the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 have been prepared on 
a going concern basis, there are conditions together with other matters about the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the above, as set forth in the section headed “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS – FINANCIAL REVIEW – Additional Information regarding the Disclaimer of Audit Opinion 
– In respect of ‘material uncertainties relating to going concern’”, the management has taken and 
will continue to implement the measures as further detailed in note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements to rectify the matters in relation to the disclaimer of opinion. Based on the plans and 
measures, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidate financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, Moore CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting 
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements, is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” 
on page 50 of this Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
As at 30 June 2023, Mr. Wong Tsz Lun fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing 
Rules. As an employee of the Company, the company secretary supports the Board, ensures good 
information flow within the Board and Board policy and procedures are followed; advises the Board 
on governance matters, facilitates induction and, monitors the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors. He has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during 
the current Year under review. His biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of the Directors and 
Senior Management” section of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Group is committed to set up and maintain an effective risk management and internal control 
systems which is devised to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, and to manage and minimize rather than eliminate the risks of failure in the 
Group’s operational systems.

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal 
control systems particularly in respect of the controls on financial, operational, compliance and risk 
management, to achieve the Group’s business strategies and business operations and safeguard the 
Shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets.



Corporate Governance Report
　

Annual Report 2023 33

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
During the Year, the outsourced internal auditor was responsible for the review and appraisal on 
the effectiveness of financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management of the 
Group, provided reports to the Audit Committee in three phases with highlighting observations and 
recommendations to improve the risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee 
also reviewed the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the outsourced 
internal audit functions.

The Audit Committee considered that there was no material defect in the Company’s internal control 
review report. After discussion with the Audit Committee, the Board and management considered that 
the recommendations were reasonable and would implement the relevant procedures accordingly.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems during the Year, including financial, operational, compliance 
and risk management. The Board was of the view that the existing risk management and internal control 
systems are effective and adequate to the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The Audit Committee reviews each year with the external auditor of the Group with regards to their 
independence, appointment, the scope of audit, fees, and the scope and appropriate fees for any non-
audit services provided by them.

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor, Moore CPA Limited, in respect 
of audit services and non-audit services amounted to HK$1,250,000 (2022: HK$1,100,000) and 
HK$220,000 (2022: HK$200,000), respectively. It should be noted that the non-audit services, e.g. 
interim financial statements and results announcements, provided by the external auditor during the Year 
were incidental to their audit services.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications with the Shareholders and 
investors, and maintains ongoing dialogues with them through various channels. The primary 
communication channel between the Company and its Shareholders is through the publication of its 
interim and annual reports. The Company’s share registrars serve the Shareholders with respect to all 
share registration matters. The Company’s general meetings provide a useful forum for Shareholders to 
exchange views with the Board. The Board members and management of the Company are available 
to answer Shareholders’ questions and explain the procedures for demanding and conducting a poll, 
if necessary. Any relevant information and documents on proposed resolutions are normally sent to all 
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the AGM.

All Shareholders’ communications, including interim and annual reports, announcements and press 
releases are available on the Company’s website at http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/cfii.

A Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company (the “Communication Policy”) has been 
adopted by the Company to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and encourage them to 
communicate actively with the Company and also establishing and reviewing the Communication Policy 
on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness, details of the Communication Policy are available on the 
Company’s website.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to convene special general meeting
In accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 58, the Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the 
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at 
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board 
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the 
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two 
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails 
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Any number of Shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the Company on 
the date of the requisition or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company are entitled to put forward 
a proposal for consideration at a general meeting of the Company. Shareholders should follow the 
procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda for putting forward such 
proposals.

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the 
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 2001, 20th Floor, Tower 1, The 
Gateway, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Constitutional Documents
There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the Year. An up-to-date 
version of the Company’s constitutional documents is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company.

General Meetings
General meetings, including AGM, are an important forum where communications with the Shareholders 
can be effectively conducted. During the Year, annual general meeting was held at 16/F, Tower 5, The 
Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong on 2 December 2022. Separate resolutions 
are proposed at general meeting on each substantially separate issue. All resolutions proposed were 
duly passed except for the resolution, to re-elect Mr. Zhang Huayu as non-executive Director. Details of 
the poll results were posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication with the existing 
Shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the 
public who may contact the Company by phone on (852) 3542 5373 during normal business hours, by 
fax at (852) 3542 5370 or by e-mail at info@cfii.com.hk.
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We are pleased to present our annual ESG Report for the year ended 30 June 2023 for the Company 
which depicts our initiatives and performance on the sustainability of the Group.

The Board recognises the importance of and acknowledge the responsibility for the strategy and 
reporting the environmental and social areas of the Group. While achieving our goals and business 
objectives, the Company works to minimise and manage environmental and social impacts arising from 
its daily operation and contribute to the long-term well being of the communities in which it operates.

REPORTING PERIOD
Unless otherwise stated, ESG Report covers the period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023 (“reporting 
period”).

REPORTING SCOPE
Our ESG Report covers the principal activities of the Company and its principal subsidiaries which are 
principally engaged in investing in listed and unlisted companies established and/or doing business in 
Hong Kong and the PRC.

REPORTING BASIS
The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 
Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules and has complied with the “comply or explain” 
provisions. During the process of preparation of this ESG Report, we summarized the Group’s 
performance in corporate and social responsibilities based on the principles of “Materiality, Quantitative, 
Balance and Consistency”. Please refer to the table below for our understanding and response to such 
reporting principles.

Reporting Principles Definitions Our Response

Materiality The issues covered in the ESG 
Report should reflect the significant 
impacts of the Group on the 
economy, environment and society, 
or the scope of assessments and 
decisions of stakeholders being 
affected.

Through continuous communication 
with stakeholders, combined with 
the Group’s strategic development 
and business operations, we can 
identify current material sustainable 
development issues.

Quantitative The ESG Report should disclose key 
performance indicators (“KPIs”) in a 
measurable manner.

The Group quantitatively discloses 
its environmental and social KPIs, 
and provides textual explanations on 
quantitative resources.

Balance The ESG Report should reflect fairly 
the overall sustainability performance 
of the Group.

The Group has explained in detail 
the sustainable development issues 
that have a significant impact in 
the business, including the results 
achieved and the challenges it faces.

Consistency The Group should use consistent 
disclosure principles for the 
preparation of the ESG Report.

The Group will ensure that the 
disclosure scope and reporting 
methods of the ESG Report are 
generally consistent every year.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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SOURCE OF INFORMATION
The information disclosed in this ESG Report is derived from the Group’s formal documents, statistics 
or public information. The Board is responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its 
contents.

ACCESS TO THE ESG REPORT
The ESG Report is available in Chinese and English versions. In case of any discrepancy between the 
Chinese and English versions of the ESG Report, the English version shall prevail. You may access the 
Group’s official website at http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/cfii or the website of the Stock Exchange at 
http://www.hkex.com.hk for an electronic copy of the ESG Report.

CONTACT INFORMATION
The Group welcomes your feedback on the ESG Report for our sustainability initiatives. Please contact 
us through our Company’s website http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/cfii.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE
The Group has established an ESG framework to promote and implement the Group’s sustainability 
strategy. To ensure effective ESG management, our ESG governance structure, composed of the Board, 
ESG working group, respective functional departments and subordinate companies, was established to 
promote ESG management and disclosure. The Board, the ultimate decision-making body of the Group, 
is responsible for the Group’s ESG governance. The Board steers the Group’s sustainable development 
forward and bears the overall responsibility of its ESG efforts. In the future, the Board will continue to 
strengthen ESG risk management and improve ESG working mechanism and regulatory processes 
to enhance its ESG governance standard. The ESG working group, serving on the supervision and 
coordination level, is responsible for implementing ESG governance strategy, coordinating ESG matters, 
compiling ESG reports, and reporting relevant work progress to the Board on a regular basis. Each 
functional department and subordinate company, serving on the execution level, is responsible for rolling 
out initiatives set up by the ESG working group and reporting relevant work progress and data.

Decision-making level The Board

Supervision and 
guideline level

ESG working group

Execution level
Functional departments 

and subordinate companies
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
The Group attaches importance to the materiality assessment of ESG issues for the purpose of timely 
and comprehensive understanding of the materiality of each ESG issue to the business development 
of the Group and the expectation of stakeholders, in order to facilitate the Group’s effective disclosure 
of ESG information and continuous improvement in the management level of relevant issues. The 
materiality assessment on ESG issues of the Group during the reporting period covers the following 
steps:

Step 1 The Group identified the following 21 issues in accordance with the disclosure requirements 
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and based on the business characteristics and daily 
operation of the Group. These issues are considered to have impacts on the environment 
and the society during our operation.

Step 2 Based on the understanding of the demands and expectations of stakeholder during the 
daily operation, the Group determined the materiality of ESG issues by benchmarking the 
key points and the trend of ESG works of industry peers.

Step 3 Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the Group discussed and determined 
the key disclosure of the ESG Report during the reporting period and the key points for 
improvement in the future ESG work of the Group.

Social Aspects Environmental Aspects

1. Equal 
opportunity

5. Prevention of 
child labor and 
forced labor

9. Complaint 
handling

13. Community 
investment

14. Exhaust 
emissions

18. Water 
consumption

2.  Employment 
and employee 
benefits

6. Selection and 
evaluation of 
suppliers

10. Protection of 
intellectual 
property rights

15. Greenhouse gas 
emissions

19.  Paper 
consumption

3. Occupational 
health and 
safety

7. Control and 
management on 
environmental 
and social risks 
along the supply 
chain

11. Customer data 
privacy and 
data security

16. Waste 
management

20. Management 
of risks 
associated with 
Environmental 
and Natural 
Resources

4. Employee 
development 
and training

8. Service quality 12. Anti-corruption 
and money 
laundering

17. Energy 
consumption

21. Climate change

According to the results of materiality assessment, 5 material topics (note)  are regarded as the most 
concerned issues of stakeholder and the Group. While taking into account environmental and social 
responsibilities, the Group will pay more attention to the above areas, and strive to achieve continuous 
improvement and sustainable business development.

Note:  Presented in bold.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Environmental Policies and Performance
The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that tries to reduce the impacts of 
its operation on the environment. The Group’s principal investment objective is to achieve long-term 
capital appreciation of assets through investments primarily in equity and equity-related investments 
in companies operating in Hong Kong and the PRC. Its operation is office based with limited energy 
and water consumption, the direct impact to the environment is minimal. The Group’s most significant 
environmental impacts are greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from a motor vehicle and electricity 
consumption in the office through the use of lights, air conditioners and office equipments.

Accordingly, the Group adopts various practices to prevent pollution, reduce waste, increase recycling 
and minimize natural resource use by continually improving our environmental management practices 
and measures. Through an environmental protection guideline sent during the reporting period which 
mainly suggests ways to reduce energy and paper consumption, we educate our staff to adopt 
responsible behavior and promote environmental protection in our work place.

To save papers, employees are encouraged to use duplex printing for internal documents; facilities and 
procedures are in place for paper waste recycling; and the Group had strived for long to establish a 
paperless office by using electronic storage and communication whenever possible.

The impact of freshwater use is relatively insignificant for the Group and we did not encounter any 
problems in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Water rate charges do not form a separate item in the 
rent, yet the Group encourages staff to reduce water wastage in daily operations.

We also took different measures to minimize environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging 
recycle of office supplies and other materials such as 1) the room temperature should be set at an 
appropriate range, 2) power supply should be switched off when they are not in use and 3) preference 
will be given to office equipment with relatively high energy efficiency.

During the reporting period, the Group consumed/generated no significant hazardous waste, 
non-hazardous waste, water and packaging materials due to its business nature. The Group is not 
aware of any material violation in all applicable environmental laws and regulations during the reporting 
period. Since the Group’s business does not produce a significant amount of emission or energy usage, 
it will not be meaningful for us to establish any quantitative target or process to trace the achieved 
result. We believe the implementation of the measures as referred to above has promoted the Group’s 
employees’ awareness of the importance of resources saving and environmental protection.

The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group raises staff’s awareness on environmental issues through education and training and enlist 
employees’ support in improving the Group’s performance, promote environmental awareness amongst 
the customers, business partners and shareholders and support community activities in relation 
to environmental protection and sustainability and evaluate regularly and monitor past and present 
business activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental matters. With the integration of 
policies mentioned as above, the Group strives to minimise the impacts to the environment and natural 
resources.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Climate Change
The Group is committed to mitigating the climate change and enhancing its resilience to adapt to the 
increasing threat of climate-related consequences.

Although the climate change may not bring direct impacts to the Group’s business, the Group, as a 
supporter of the recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), has 
assessed the potential climate related risks that it may face under different climate scenarios. The Group 
identified the rising mean temperature and increasing severity and likelihood of extreme weather events 
such as typhoons and rainstorms as major physical risks impacting our daily operation.

The Group’s ESG working group is responsible for identifying and assessing any climate-related 
risks to which the Group’s operations are exposed, and updating the Board with the latest news and 
developments on climate regulations and industry benchmark. In order to cope with climate-related 
risk, the Group implemented emergency response mechanism as stipulated in our Staff Manual such 
as work from home so as to cope with extreme weather. Such contingency plan has become a part 
of standardized operation procedures of the Group to quickly and adequately respond any impact of 
extreme weather conditions.

In the future, we will continue to identify potential business activities impacting the environment and 
develop corresponding improvement measures, so as to further prevent the possible negative impacts of 
our operation on climate change.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment
People are the foundation of our business success and we treat employees as our greatest asset. To 
attract and retain our high-calibre labour force, the Group has implemented policies and procedures 
to achieve an effective human capital management system, covering compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination 
and other benefits and welfare.

We promote a culture of diversity and respect and strive to provide a fair and inclusive work environment 
free of all kinds of discrimination for employees to achieve their goals and pursue their career objectives.

The Group places emphasis on maintaining a team of high-caliber talent and provides competitive 
remuneration and welfare packages. The Group has endeavored to review and improve its remuneration 
system on a regular basis to remain competitive. With an aim to facilitate the retention of talent, the 
Group offers, in addition to salaries and bonuses, various benefits including an education allowance, 
a housing allowance, the Mandatory Provident Fund, meal allowances and compensation for mobile 
communication.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in relation to 
employment during the reporting period that have significant impact on the Group.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Health and Safety
It is the policy of the Group to provide a healthy and safety working environment to the employees. The 
Group will maintain its office premises from time to time in order to provide a safety working place for the 
employees. The Group also encourage employees to participate in recreational activities organised by 
outside parties.

The Group regularly promotes employees’ occupational safety and health good practice at work in 
the aspects of lighting condition, use of office equipment, office safety, computer workstation design 
and working posture through briefing and various communication channels, resulting in better working 
environment quality.

Besides, the Group also equipped the below in office to provide a comfortable working environmental for 
employees including:

• provision of adjustable working chairs and seats;

• provision of sufficient storage space for a more spacious desk area;

• keeping objects and tools easily reachable and conveniently located; and

• installation of air cleaning systems.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in relation to health 
and safety working environment during the reporting period that have significant impact on the Group.

Development and Training
Due to our business nature, on-the-job training and continuous professional development for 
professional qualifications are important elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees 
of the Group. The Group encourage employees to attend training courses (e.g. Listing Rules and 
accountancy related seminars) and reimbursement will be made by the Group for those job-related 
training courses. Besides, the Group circulates relevant reference materials for the employees’ selfstudy.

Labour Standards
The Company complies with all applicable labour laws and regulations on employment in Hong Kong 
and the countries in which the Company or its subsidiaries operate.

The Group considers child and forced labour is unacceptable and has to be prevented. It respects 
human rights and treats this factor seriously when making investments. The Group has not invested, to 
its reasonable knowledge, in any company which has historical records of utilizing child or forced labour.

The Group believes it is important to recruit employees of high quality; a very comprehensive screening 
has been part of the recruitment processes.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Labour Standards (continued)
Employee work schedules are set up consistent with standard working hours adopted within the 
industry. All employees are provided with appropriate leave entitlements, including annual leave, sick 
leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, examination leave and compassionate leave etc.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with policies and relevant laws and regulations 
regarding prevention of child labour or forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management
The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of financial information, legal and securities 
brokerage services. The Group is committed to ensure that its supply chain management is socially 
responsible. We implemented selection process on its suppliers taking into considerations such 
elements as their qualification, reputation, past performance, financial strength and price.

Product Responsibility
The Group invests in companies operating in diversified industries. It will take into account 
environmental, public health, safety, and social issues associated with target companies when evaluating 
its investment decisions.

Intellectual property
Due to our business nature, impact of observing and protecting intellectual property rights is considered 
as not material to our operation by management. We have not received any material claim against us for 
infringement of any trademark nor were we aware of any pending or threatened claims in relation to any 
such infringement, nor had any material claim been made by us against third parties in relation to the 
infringement of intellectual property rights owned by us or third parties during the reporting period.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)
Privacy Protection
The Group is committed to ensuring personal data and privacy of its customers are kept confidential. 
In addition to complying with the relevant provisions of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the 
Group has implemented various measures to prevent unauthorized access of customers’ data, such as 
installation on all computers together with backup services security features which require password 
access to information stored on the hard disk or server. In addition, all staff members are reminded of 
the importance of keeping confidential any aspects of the Group’s business and the need to comply with 
the “Code of Confidentiality” whose details are laid down in the Staff Manual.

During the reporting period, there were no cases of non-compliance with the relevant laws or regulations 
regarding product responsibility.

Anti-corruption
The Group is committed to ensuring that no bribes, payment or advantages are solicited from or given 
or offered to any persons, whether in the public or private sector, for any purpose, which can ensure 
the strict adherence to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. The Group regards honesty, integrity and 
fair play as the core values that must be upheld by our colleagues at all times. Thus, the Group has 
formulated whistle-blowing policy to promote business ethics and integrity so as to avoid suspected 
corruption, extortion and money laundering. Reporting channels such as by email for employees 
to report suspected corruption are provided. If there are any suspected case related to corruption, 
employees are encouraged to report the related cases through the mentioned channels. Anti-corruption 
training materials were circulated to employees of the Company for self-study.

The Group has been in strict compliance with law and regulation related to anti-corruption. During the 
reporting period, there was no any legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or 
its employees.

COMMUNITY
Community Investment
The Group is fully aware of the importance of interacting with the wider community in fulfilling corporate 
social responsibility. In this aspect, the Group would explore the possibility to identify suitable partners 
and support community and environmental programmes that align with the Group’s missions and values.
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Appendix I Overview of Key Performance Indicators
1. Environmental Aspects1&2

No. of KPIs KPIs Unit 2023 2022

A1.1 Emissions Sulphur Dioxide kg 0.02 0.01
Nitrogen Oxides kg 0.93 0.67
Particulate Matter kg 0.07 0.05

A1.2 Greenhouse 
gas emissions

Scope 1 Direct 
emissions

kg of CO2e 2,805.35 2,022.77

Scope 2 Indirect 
emissions

kg of CO2e 1,348.28 1,435.60

Total kg of CO2e 4,153.63 3,458.37
Intensity kg of CO2e/ 

square meters
35.40 29.47

A1.4 Non-
hazardous waste

Total non-hazardous 
waste (paper 
consumption)

kg 16.77 19.47

Intensity kg/square meters 0.14 0.17

A2.1 Energy 
consumption

Unleaded petrol kWh 10,040.25 7,239.45

Purchased electricity kWh 3,644.00 3,880.00
Total kWh 13,684.25 11,119.45
Intensity kWh/square meters 116.62 94.77

Note

1. Unless otherwise stated, the emission factors used in calculating the environmental KPIs in this ESG Report 
are based on the “How to prepare an ESG Report – Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental 
KPIs” issued by the HKEx.

2. Intensity is calculated based on the area of Hong Kong office during the reporting period amounting to 
117.34 square meters (2022: 117.34 square meters).
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Appendix I Overview of Key Performance Indicators (continued)
2. Social Aspects

No. of KPIs KPIs Unit 2023 2022

B1.1 Total number of 
employees

By gender
Male person 6 8
Female person 2 3
By employment type
Full-time person 8 11
Part-time person Nil Nil
By age group
30 or below person Nil Nil
31-40 person 4 4
41-50 person Nil 1
51 or above person 4 6
By employment category
Normal person 2 2
Middle person Nil Nil
Senior person 6 9
By geographical region
Hong Kong person 8 10
The PRC person Nil 1

B1.2 Employee 
turnover rate

Turnover rate by gender
Male % 33 Nil
Female % 50 Nil
Turnover rate by age group
30 or below % Nil Nil
31-40 % Nil Nil
41-50 % Nil Nil
51 or above % 75 Nil
By geographical region
Hong Kong % 38 Nil
The PRC % Nil Nil

B2.1 Number and 
rate of work-related 
fatalities

Number of work-related 
fatalities occurred in each 
of the past three years 
including the reporting year

person Nil Nil

Rate of work-related fatalities % Nil Nil
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No. of KPIs KPIs Unit 2023 2022

B2.2 Number of 
working days lost due 
to work injury

Number of working days lost 
due to work injury

day Nil Nil

B5.1 Number of 
suppliers

Number of suppliers/
service providers by 
geographical region

Hong Kong suppliers/
service 

providers

15 15

B6.2 Number of 
complaints about 
products and services

Number of complaints about 
service received

case Nil Nil

B7.1 Legal cases in 
relation to corruption

Number of legal cases in 
relation to corruption filed 
and concluded

case Nil Nil

Appendix I Overview of Key Performance Indicators (continued)
2. Social Aspects (continued)
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Appendix II Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content Index

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section

A. Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions
General Disclosure Environmental Policies and 

Performance
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 

emissions data.
Appendix I Overview of Key 

Performance Indicators: 
Environmental Aspects

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect 
(Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions 
in total and, where appropriate, 
intensity.

Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: 
Environmental Aspects

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, 
where appropriate, intensity.

Environmental Policies and 
Performance

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced 
and, where appropriate, intensity.

Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: 
Environmental Aspects

KPI A1.5 Description of emission targets set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

Environmental Policies and 
Performance

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and 
a description of reduction targets set 
and steps taken to achieve them.

Environmental Policies and 
Performance

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
General Disclosure Environmental Policies and 

Performance
KPI A2.1 Direct and indirect energy consumption 

by type in total.
Appendix I Overview of Key 

Performance Indicators: 
Environmental Aspects

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Environmental Policies and 
Performance

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency and 
a description of targets set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

Environmental Policies and 
Performance

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any 
issue in sourcing water that is fit 
for purpose, water efficiency and a 
description of targets set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

Environmental Policies and 
Performance

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for 
finished products and, if applicable, 
with reference to per unit produced.

Not applicable due to business 
nature
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section

Aspect A3: The Environmental and Natural Resources
General Disclosure The Environmental and Natural 

Resources
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts 

of activities on the environment and 
natural resources and the actions 
taken to manage them.

Environmental Policies and 
Performance

Aspect A4: Climate Change
General Disclosure Climate Change

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, 
and those which may impact the 
issuer, and the actions taken to 
manage them.

Climate Change

B. Social
Employment and Labour Practices
Aspect B1: Employment

General Disclosure Employment
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment 

type, age group and geographical 
region.

Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: Social 
Aspects

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age 
group and geographical region.

Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: Social 
Aspects

Aspect B2: Health and safety
General Disclosure Health and Safety

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related 
fatalities occurred in each of the past 
three years including the reporting 
year.

Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: Social 
Aspects

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: Social 
Aspects

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 
safety measures adopted, how they 
are implemented and monitored.

Health and Safety

Appendix II Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content Index (continued)
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General Disclosure Development and Training

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by 
gender and employee category.

In light of our business nature 
and result of materiality 
assessment, such KPIs is 
considered as not material and 
thus not disclosed.

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed 
per employee by gender and employee 
category.

In light of our business nature 
and result of materiality 
assessment, such KPIs is 
considered as not material and 
thus not disclosed.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General Disclosure Labour Standards

KPI B 4.1 Description of measures to review 
employment practices to avoid child 
and forced labour.

Labour Standards

KPI B 4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate 
such practices when discovered.

Labour Standards

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure Supply Chain Management
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by region. Appendix I Overview of Key 

Performance Indicators: Social 
Aspects

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to 
engaging supplies, number of 
supplies where the practices are 
being implemented, how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 
environmental and social risks along 
the supply chain, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 
environmentally preferable products 
and services when selecting suppliers, 
how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Not applicable due to business 
nature

Appendix II Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content Index (continued)
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Disclosure Product Responsibility

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or 
shipped subject to recalls for safety 
and health reasons.

Not applicable due to business 
nature

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related 
complaints received and how they are 
dealt with.

Not applicable due to business 
nature

KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to 
observing and protecting intellectual 
property rights.

Product Responsibility

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process 
and recall procedures.

Not applicable due to business 
nature

KPI B6.5 Description of customer data protection 
and privacy policies, how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General Disclosure Anti-corruption

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases 
regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees 
during the reporting period and the 
outcomes of the case.

Appendix I Overview of Key 
Performance Indicators: Social 
Aspects

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and 
whistle-blowing procedures, how they 
are implemented and monitored.

Anti-corruption

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training 
provided to directors and staff.

Anti-corruption

Aspect B8: Community Investment
General Disclosure Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. 
education, environmental concerns, 
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

In light of our result of materiality 
assessment, such KPIs is 
considered as not material and 
thus not disclosed.

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or 
time) to the focus area.

In light of our result of materiality 
assessment, such KPIs is 
considered as not material and 
thus not disclosed.

Appendix II Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content Index (continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
China Financial International Investments Limited
中國金融國際投資有限公司
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China Financial International 
Investments Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set 
out on pages 54 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the 
significance of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we 
have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion 
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial 
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(i) Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern Basis

As detailed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2023, 
the Group sustained a loss for the year of approximately HK$387,171,000 and its net current 
assets and net assets decreased to approximately HK$26,896,000 and HK$129,449,000, 
respectively as at 30 June 2023. Additionally, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents decreased 
to approximately HK$606,000, while its current liabilities of HK$28,835,000 are repayable within 
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant 
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the 
outcome of these measures as set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, which 
are subject to uncertainties.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
(i) Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern Basis (continued)

As of the date of our report, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence from 
management for their underlying assumptions on going concern as set out in note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements, including (i) successful realisation of the financial assets at fair 
value through profit of loss (“FVTPL”) of approximately HK$98,669,000 and equity instruments 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) of approximately HK$19,361,000 
held by the Group; (ii) successful and sufficient obtaining financial support by the Group from the 
substantial shareholder of the Company to meet the Group’s immediate financial obligations when 
they fall due; (iii) successful implementing cost-saving measures to improve operating cash flows 
of the Group; and (iv) successful obtaining of additional new sources of financing as and when 
needed. Hence we were unable to assess the appropriateness or reasonableness of the use of 
the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Should the Group fail to achieve the intended effects resulting from the plans and measures as 
mentioned in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be able to operate as a 
going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of 
the Group’s assets, including but not limited to financial assets at FVTPL with carrying amount of 
HK$98,669,000, equity instruments at FVTOCI of HK$19,361,000 and prepayments, deposits and 
other receivables of HK$40,172,000, to their respective net realisable amounts, and to provide for 
any further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities 
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not 
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Prepayments for investments and consideration receivable for disposal of an investment
As detailed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 
30  June 2023, the Group made certain prepayments totaling HK$29,092,000 (equivalent to 
RMB26,827,000) (the “Prepayments”) intended as capital injection for two unlisted investments 
(i.e. financial assets at FVTPL) and these amounts included in the prepayments, deposits and 
other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023. In the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, such amounts will be recorded as investment costs for 
unlisted investment included in financial assets at FVTPL once all their existing investors paying 
up the additional capital and the official capital registration procedure is completed. Subsequently, 
there was no additional capital injection made from other investors into these entities up to the 
end of reporting period, and hence the Group are in the process of retrieving these amounts from 
the two investees. However, such amounts have yet been received by the Group as of the date of 
these consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.

Moreover, during the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group disposed of an unlisted investment 
to an independent third party at a cash consideration of HK$9,723,000 (equivalent to 
RMB9,000,000), in which the Group provided one-year credit period to the purchaser and such 
amount was recorded as consideration receivable of disposal of an unlisted investment (the 
“Consideration Receivable”) included in the consolidated statement of financial position. However, 
such amount has yet been received by the Group as of the date of these consolidated financial 
statements are authorised for issue.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
(ii) Prepayments for investments and consideration receivable for disposal of an investment 

(continued)
Given the circumstances described above and the significance of the prepayments to the 
consolidated financial statements, we sought an explanation from the management of the Group 
regarding the reasons for making these prepayments, even to the extent of causing a strain 
on the Group’s working capital. We also inquired about the reasons for the Group made such 
prepayments to the investees, especially given that the related investees had not provided capital 
returns to the Group and the fair value measurement of these investees recorded a significant 
decrease during the year ended 30 June 2023. Besides, for the receivable of disposal of the 
unlisted investment, we inquired with the management of the Group regarding the reasons for 
the Group to provide a relatively long one-year credit term to the purchaser upon disposing of 
the related investment, given that the extent of the due diligence carried out by the Group might 
not be adequate to enable the Group to assess the repayment capability of the counterparty in 
settling the outstanding Consideration Receivable.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the nature and 
reasons for making the Prepayments or granting the one-year credit period to the counterparty of 
the Consideration Receivable during the year ended 30 June 2023. Moreover, as the directors of 
the Company consider the Prepayments and the Consideration Receivable could be recoverable, 
and therefore no impairment in respect of either of these amounts has been made in the 
financial statements. However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
to satisfy ourselves about those management judgment, assumptions and estimation adopted 
in such impairment assessment, and hence the carrying amounts of the Prepayments and the 
Consideration Receivable as at 30 June 2023 were free from material misstatements. There was 
no other practical alternative audit procedure that we could perform.

Due to the limitation on our scope of work, we were unable to evaluate whether the Prepayments 
and Consideration Receivable were appropriately stated on the consolidated financial statements 
or any impairment has to be recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Any adjustments that might have been found necessary from any of the above matters may 
have a significant effect on the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2023, and the related disclosures in the 
respective consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s 
report. This report is made solely to you, as a body in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability 
to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the matter described in the 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Lai Hung Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P06995

Hong Kong, 29 December 2023
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2023 2022
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 76 2,234
Other income 7 12 13
Other gains and losses 10 (12,012) (388)
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (360,260) (200,459)
Administrative expenses (13,974) (15,647)
Share of loss of an associate (256) (203)
Finance costs 8 (757) (745)

Loss before tax (387,171) (215,195)

Income tax expense 9 – –

Loss for the year 10 (387,171) (215,195)

Other comprehensive expense
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Fair value loss on equity instruments  
at fair value through other comprehensive  
income (“FVTOCI”) (39,568) (4,716)

Exchange differences on translation from functional 
currency to presentation currency (16,601) (6,831)

Other comprehensive expense for the year (56,169) (11,547)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (443,340) (226,742)

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company (387,171) (215,195)

Total comprehensive expense for the year 
attributable to owners of the Company (443,340) (226,742)

LOSS PER SHARE 14
Basic (HK cents) (3.529) (1.961)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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2023 2022
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 15 – –
Right-of-use asset 16 – –
Interest in an associate 17 449 705
Financial assets at FVTPL 18 83,448 451,436
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 19 19,361 58,929
Deposit 20 268 – 

103,526 511,070

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 39,904 9,785
Financial assets at FVTPL 18 15,221 45,803
Cash and cash equivalents 21 606 39,600

55,731 95,188

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 22 13,792 18,718
Amount due to an associate 23 285 138
Tax payable 4,200 4,200
Borrowing 24 9,997 9,997
Lease liability 25 561 416

28,835 33,469

NET CURRENT ASSETS 26,896 61,719

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 130,422 572,789

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Lease liability 25 973 –

NET ASSETS 129,449 572,789

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 26 109,717 109,717
Reserves 19,732 463,072

TOTAL EQUITY 129,449 572,789

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HK cents) 27 1.18 5.22

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 127 were approved and authorised for issue by 
the board of directors on 29 December 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

DU LIN DONG CHEN XI
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 30 June 2023
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus 

Capital 
reserve 

Financial 
assets 

at FVTOCI 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

(note a) (note b)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 109,717 2,067,672 278,979 2,766 (42,599) 24,847 (1,641,851) 799,531

Loss for the year – – – – – – (215,195) (215,195)

Other comprehensive expense 
for the year – – – – (4,716) (6,831) – (11,547)

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – (4,716) (6,831) (215,195) (226,742)

At 30 June 2022 109,717 2,067,672 278,979 2,766 (47,315) 18,016 (1,857,046) 572,789

Loss for the year – – – – – – (387,171) (387,171)

Other comprehensive expense 
for the year – – – – (39,568) (16,601) – (56,169)

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – (39,568) (16,601) (387,171) (443,340)

At 30 June 2023 109,717 2,067,672 278,979 2,766 (86,883) 1,415 (2,244,217) 129,449

Notes:

(a) The contributed surplus represents the share premium reduction during the year ended 30 June 2010. Under 
the Companies Law of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the 
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it would, after the 
payment, be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be 
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

(b) The capital reserve represents the wavier of amount due to a shareholder in 2005.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (387,171) (215,195)
Adjustments for:

Share of loss of an associate 256 203
Interest income (12) (13)
Dividend income (76) (2,234)
Finance costs 757 745
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 62
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 244 666
Impairment loss of right-of-use asset 1,512 388
Impairment loss of other receivables 10,500 –
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL 360,260 200,459

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (13,730) (14,919)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (2,211) 11
Decrease in other payables and accruals (4,682) (577)
Increase in an amount due to an associate 147 3
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL 3,923 –

Cash used in operations (16,553) (15,482)
Interest received 12 13
Dividend received 76 2,234

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (16,465) (13,235)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Prepayments for potential investments (30,194) –
Proceeds on disposals of financial assets at FVTPL not held for  

trading purpose 10,672 18,365
Refund of rental deposit 26 –
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary – 30,000

CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (19,496) 48,365

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (757) (745)
Repayment of lease liability (638) (681)

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,395) (1,426)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (37,356) 33,704

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 39,600 6,044

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,638) (148)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash 606 39,600

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
China Financial International Investments Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies Law as an exempted company. With 
effect from 9 May 2006, the Company de-registered from the Cayman Islands and re-domiciled 
in Bermuda under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an exempted company. The shares of 
the Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are 
disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged 
in investing in listed and unlisted companies established and/or doing businesses in Hong Kong 
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) as the shares 
of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange, whereas the functional currency of the 
Company is Renminbi (“RMB”).

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are 
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 July 2022 for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before 

Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact 
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the  
October 2020 and February 2022 
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 
(2020)1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements3

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction1

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules4

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability5

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 (except for HKAS 12 paragraphs 4A and 

88A which are immediately effective upon issue of the amendments)
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new and amendments to 
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 
future.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by 
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information 
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by 
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures 
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial 
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for preparation on a going concern basis
For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has continued to sustain a loss for the year 
of approximately HK$387,171,000 and its net current assets and net assets decreased to 
approximately HK$26,896,000 and HK$129,449,000, respectively as at 30 June 2023. The 
Group’s cash and cash equivalents also decreased to approximately HK$606,000, while its 
current liabilities of HK$28,835,000 are repayable within the next twelve months from the end of 
the reporting period.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have given careful consideration 
and prepared a cash flow projection based on the future liquidity, operating performance of the 
Group and its available sources of financing. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that 
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial 
obligations as and when they fall due within 18 months from 30 June 2023 after taking into 
account of the following measures:

(i) expediting and reviewing its investments and actively considering to realise certain financial 
assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$98,669,000 and equity instruments at FVTOCI of 
HK$19,361,000, in order to enhance the cash flow position of the Group whenever it is 
necessary;

(ii) the director and shareholder of the Company, Mr. Du Lin Dong (“Mr. Du”), provided a letter 
of support to the Company and agreed to undertake and provide sufficient financial support 
to the Company to meet its immediate financial obligations when they fall due;

(iii) implementing an active cost-saving measures to control administrative costs through 
various ways to improve operating cash flows at a level sufficient to finance the working 
capital requirements of the Group; and

(iv) continuing to seek for other alternative financing to increase the Group’s equity and liquidity 
when necessary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Basis for preparation on a going concern basis (continued)
There is a material uncertainty related to the outcomes of the above events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore 
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. Should the use of the going concern basis in preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements be considered to be inappropriate, adjustments would have to be made to write down 
the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, including but not limited to financial assets at FVTPL 
with carrying amount of HK$98,669,000, equity instruments at FVTOCI of HK$19,361,000 and 
prepayments, deposits and other receivables of HK$40,172,000, to their net realisable values, 
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and 
liabilities to current assets and liabilities. The effect of these adjustments have not been reflected 
in the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, 
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset 
or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing 
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements 
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that 
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation 
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals 
the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Basis for preparation on a going concern basis (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable 
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described 
as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full 
term of the assets through corroboration with observable market data. Observable inputs 
generally used to measure the fair value of financial assets classified as Level 2 include: 
quoted market prices for similar assets in active markets, quoted market prices in markets 
that are not active for identical or similar assets and other market observable inputs; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the 
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and 
non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration 
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets 
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. 
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of 
the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on 
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any identified impairment loss.

Interest in an associate
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of the associates 
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of 
the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, 
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other 
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes 
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses 
of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess 
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Interest in an associate (continued)
The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate 
maybe impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment 
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by 
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) 
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including 
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment 
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting 
from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

When an investment in an associate is held by, or is held indirectly through, an entity that is 
a venture capital organisation, upon initial recognition the entity may elect to measure the 
investment as designated at FVTPL and accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial 
Instruments”. Such investments shall be measured at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 9, with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period of the change.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer.

A performance obligation represents service (or a bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of 
distinct services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria 
is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 
Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and 
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the 
distinct services.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or 
arising from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease 
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as 
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract 
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 
price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease 
component, and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease 
components as a single lease component.

Right-of-use asset
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives 
received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the 
underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset 
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use asset is measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use asset as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposit
Refundable rental deposit paid is accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and 
included in the cost of right-of-use asset.

Lease liability
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at 
the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value 
of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the 
option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising 
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liability is adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a 
purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent 
review, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liability as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone 
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the 
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease 
by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of 
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liability by making corresponding 
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the 
relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The associated non-lease components are 
included in the respective lease components.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates 
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 
the Group’s operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong 
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses 
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are 
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

China Financial International Investments Limited68

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the 
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual 
reporting period. In determining the present value of the Group’s defined benefit obligations and 
the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost, the Group attributes 
benefit to periods of service under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s service 
in later years will lead to a materially higher level of benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes 
the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(a) the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits under the plan (whether or not 
the benefits are conditional on further service) until

(b) the date when further service by the employee will lead to no material amount of further 
benefits under the plan, other than from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset 
ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately 
in the consolidated statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 
expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee 
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of 
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss 
before tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group 
recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines 
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, 
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary 
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess 
of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease 
liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the 
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the 
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or 
supply of services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant 
and equipment and right-of-use asset to determine whether there is any indication that these 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset are estimated 
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant 
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, 
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be 
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares 
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the 
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, 
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment 
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not 
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use 
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been 
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include 
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are 
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of 
cash.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 
of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales 
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade 
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial 
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added 
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are 
presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition 
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value 
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held 
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to 
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 
Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be 
measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets 
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting 
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning 
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to 
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the 
“revenue” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or 
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, 
with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset 
and is included in the “fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on 
financial assets (including deposits, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents) which 
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after 
the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 
conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in 
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date 
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 
available) or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant 
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions 
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 
and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

China Financial International Investments Limited76

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 
becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the 
following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted 
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the 
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to 
the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated 
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial 
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
financial assets at FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to 
accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at 
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including other payables, amount due to an associate and borrowing are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or 
loss.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Annual Report 2023 79

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors 
of the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that 
the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

Classification of investments in unlisted equity securities
Certain investments in unlisted equity securities of the Group are not classified as an associate 
nor accounted for using the equity method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns 
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In the opinion of the directors of the 
Company, the Group has no significant influence over those investments since the Group and 
each of the investee entered into relevant written agreement/declaration to conclude the following:

• the Group does not have any rights to appoint any representatives on the board of 
directors or equivalent governing body of those investments;

• the Group does not have any rights to participate in policy-making processes, including 
participation in decisions about dividends or other distributions; and

• the Group does not have any right to interchange any managerial personnel with those 
investments.

Based on the above, it does not consider as having significant influence on the investments. 
Hence, those investments are not considered as associate of the Group. Such investments are 
treated as either financial asset at FVTPL or equity instruments at FVTOCI, depending on the 
business model of the respective investments. Further details are set out in notes 18 and 19.

Going concern considerations
The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a judgment by the directors of 
the Company, at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which 
are inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company consider that the Group has the ability to 
continue as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which may give rise to business 
risks, that individually or collectively may cast doubts about the going concern assumption are set 
out in note 31.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
At 30 June 2023, HK$94,163,000 (2022: HK$486,785,000) of the Group’s financial assets 
(comprising equity instruments at FVTOCI of HK$10,715,000 (2022: HK$35,349,000), and 
financial assets at FVTPL of HK$83,448,000 (2022: HK$451,436,000)) are measured at fair 
values with fair values being determined based on significant unobservable inputs using 
valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation 
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors 
could result in material adjustments to the fair values of these instruments. Further details are set 
out in note 31c.

Provision for taxation
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in 
tax laws on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences 
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to 
such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The 
Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of 
audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such 
provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such 
differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions 
prevailing in the respective investment’s domicile.

Provision of ECL for other receivables
Management regularly reviews the impairment assessment and evaluates ECL of other 
receivables. Appropriate impairment allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on other receivables at the reporting date with the one 
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, other receivables are assessed 
individually by management of the Group, based on the financial background, financial condition 
and the historical settlement records, including past due dates and default rates and forward-
looking information, that is reasonable and supportable available without undue cost or effort.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, HK$10,500,000 (2022: nil) impairment loss was provided 
on other receivables.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of right-of-use asset
Right-of-use asset is stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. 
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make 
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that 
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by 
the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows 
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key 
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections 
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate assets 
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable 
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the relevant 
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including 
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the 
recoverable amounts. Furthermore, the cash flows projections, growth rate and discount rate are 
subject to greater uncertainties due to uncertainty on volatility or disruptions in energy or financial, 
markets may progress and evolve.

As at 30 June 2023, the net carrying amount of right-of-use asset subject to impairment 
assessment was nil (2022: nil), after taking into account the impairment losses of HK$1,512,000 
(2022: HK$388,000) in respect of right-of-use asset that have been recognised. Details of the 
impairment of right-of-use asset is disclosed in note 16.

5. REVENUE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividend income from:
Financial assets at FVTPL 76 2,234
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision 
maker (the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance focuses on the type and underlying business of the Group’s investments.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are as 
follows:

1. Micro-loan service – equity investments in investees engaged in micro-loan services

2. Real estate and natural gas – equity investments in investees engaged in real estate and 
natural gas business

3. Clean energy – equity investment in investees engaged in clean energy industry

4. Others – equity investments in investees engaged in guarantee service, aluminium alloy 
strip, foil production and product processing and management consultation service and 
other businesses

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Micro-loan 
service

Real estate 
and 

natural gas
Clean 

energy Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue – – 76 – 76

Segment profit (loss) 2,656 (24,857) (288,737) (49,246) (360,184)

Share of loss of an associate (256)
Other income 12
Impairment loss of right-of-use asset (1,512)
Impairment loss of other receivables (10,500)
Finance costs (757)
Central administrative expenses (13,974)

Loss before tax (387,171)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Annual Report 2023 83

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Micro-loan 
service

Real estate 
and 

natural gas
Clean 

energy Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 181 – 2,053 – 2,234

Segment loss (4,202) (14,827) (171,785) (7,411) (198,225)

Share of loss of an associate (203)
Other income 13
Impairment loss of right-of-use asset (388)
Finance costs (745)
Central administrative expenses (15,647)

Loss before tax (215,195)

Segment loss represents the loss from each segment without allocation of share of loss of 
an associate, other income, impairment loss of right-of-use asset, impairment loss of other 
receivables, finance costs, and central administrative expenses. This is the measure reported to 
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Other segment information
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment assets:

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Micro-loan 
service

Real estate 
and 

natural gas
Clean 

energy Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value gain (loss) on financial assets  
at FVTPL 2,656 (24,857) (288,813) (49,246) (360,260)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Micro-loan 
service

Real estate 
and 

natural gas
Clean 

energy Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value loss on  financial assets at 
FVTPL (4,383) (14,827) (173,838) (7,411) (200,459)
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable segments:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Micro-loan service – 7,466
Real estate and natural gas 23,037 62,827
Clean energy 100,993 381,995
Others 32,815 103,880

Total segment assets 156,845 556,168
Unallocated assets 2,412 50,090

Consolidated assets 159,257 606,258

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between 
segments:

• all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use asset, interest in an associate, certain prepayments, deposits and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents; and

• no liabilities are allocated to reportable segments.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located on the PRC (country of domicile).

7. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 12 13
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8. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on borrowing 700 700
Interest on lease liability 57 45

757 745

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of 
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will 
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates 
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax 
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated 
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon implementation of the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong 
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made in the 
consolidated financial statements as the Group has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and 
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both 
years.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (387,171) (215,195)

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5%  
(2022: 16.5%) (note) (63,883) (35,507)

Tax effect of share of loss of an associate 42 34
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 57,104 30,363
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (15) (372)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 6,759 5,479
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognised – 3
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences previously not 

recognised (7) –

Income tax expense for the year – –

Note:  The domestic tax rate (which is Hong Kong Profits Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the operation of the 
Group is substantially based is used.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$477,429,000 (2022: 
HK$436,463,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax 
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 4,211 5,558
Other staff:

Salaries and other benefits 4,272 4,747
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 156 53

Total employee benefits expense 8,639 10,358

Auditor’s remuneration
– audit services 1,250 1,100
– non-audit services 220 200
Custodian fee 158 156
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 62
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 244 666
Investment management fees (note 33) 148 356
Impairment loss of other receivables  

(note 20(i)(a)  and note 20(iv) )  
(included in other gains and losses) 10,500 –

Impairment loss of right-of-use asset  
(included in other gains and losses) 1,512 388

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable 
Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Mr. Du 
Lin Dong Total
HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i))

(A) Executive director:

Fees 120 120
Salaries and other benefits 2,982 2,982
Performance related bonus – –
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 18 18

Sub-total 3,120 3,120

The executive director’s emoluments shown above were for his services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2023 (continued)

Mr. Ding 

Xiaobin

Mr. Zhang 

Huayu Ms. Li Jie Ms. Chen Xi Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (ii))

(B) Non-executive directors:

Fees 2 844 5 60 911

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company.

Mr. Zeng 

Xianggao

Mr. Zhang 

Jing

Mr. Wong 

Lok Man Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (iv))

(C) Independent non-executive directors:

Fees 60 60 60 180

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as 
directors of the Company.

Total 4,211
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Mr. Du 
Lin Dong Total
HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i))

(A) Executive director:

Fees 120 120
Salaries and other benefits 3,000 3,000
Performance related bonus – –
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 18 18

Sub-total 3,138 3,138

The executive director’s emoluments shown above were for his services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

Mr. Ding 

Xiaobin

Mr. Zhang 

Huayu Ms. Li Jie Ms. Chen Xi Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (ii))

(B) Non-executive directors:

Fees 60 2,000 120 60 2,240

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company.

Mr. Zeng 

Xianggao

Mr. Zhang 

Jing

Mr. Wong 

Lok Man Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (iv))

(C) Independent non-executive directors:

Fees 60 60 60 180

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as 
directors of the Company.

Total 5,558
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Du Lin Dong is also the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include 
those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

(ii) Resigned on 15 July 2022.

(iii) Resigned on 2 December 2022.

(iv) Resigned on 29 December 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to 
waive any remuneration during both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director as an inducement to join or upon joining 
the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a director in connection with the management 
of the affairs of any member of the Group during both years.

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included two directors (2022: two 
directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 11 above. Details of the remuneration 
for the year of the remaining three (2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director 
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 3,950 4,348
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 53 53

4,003 4,401

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose 
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2023 2022
Number of 
employees

Number of 
employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 1

3 3

During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to these 
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any 
office in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.
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13. DIVIDEND
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company during the year 
ended 30 June 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period 
(2022: nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year attributable to owners of  
the Company for the purpose of basic loss per share (387,171) (215,195)

Number of shares

2023 2022
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  
the purpose of basic loss per share 10,971,634 10,971,634

No diluted loss per share for both years was presented as there were no potential ordinary shares 
in issue for both years.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 July 2021 and  

30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023 95 71 1,678 1,844

DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2021 33 71 1,678 1,782
Provided for the year 62 – – 62

At 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023 95 71 1,678 1,844

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 – – – –

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the 
following rates per annum:

Furniture and fixtures 25%
Office equipment 331/3%
Motor vehicles 30%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

Leasehold 
land 

and building
HK$’000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2021 1,054
Depreciation charge during the year (666)
Impairment loss recognised during the year (388)

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2022 –
Addition during the year 1,756
Depreciation charge during the year (244)
Impairment loss recognised during the year (1,512)

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023 –

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total cash outflow for leases 695 726

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group leases one (2022: one) office for its operations. 
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 years (2022: 3 years). Lease terms are 
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In determining 
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the 
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Restrictions or covenants on leases
In addition, lease liability of HK$1,534,000 are recognised with related right-of-use asset of nil as 
at 30 June 2023 (2022: lease liability of HK$416,000 and related right-of-use asset of nil). The 
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security deposits in the leased 
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 
purposes.

Impairment assessment on right-of-use asset
For the purposes of impairment testing, right-of-use asset (including allocation of corporate 
assets) that generates cash flows is included in the respective cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in 
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved 
by management covering the remaining rental period of the right-of-use asset and discount rate of 
8% (2022: 7%).
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET (continued)
Impairment assessment on right-of-use asset (continued)
The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rate as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 have 
been reassessed taking into consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties due to 
volatility or disruptions in energy or financial markets may progress and evolve.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group recorded a substantial decrease in fair 
values in its unlisted equity instruments. The directors of the Company have consequently 
determined impairment of right-of-use asset allocated to each cash-generating unit amounting 
to HK$1,512,000. The impairment loss has been included in profit or loss in the other gains and 
losses line item.

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investment in an associate 290 290
Share of post-acquisition profits and  

other comprehensive income 159 415

449 705

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of associate
Place of 
incorporation

Principal 
place of 
business

Paid up 
issued 
capital

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting rights 

held by the Group Principal activity

2023 2022

China Financial International 
Investments & Managements 
Limited (“CFIIM”)

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 29% 29% Provision of asset 
management services
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Summarised financial information of CFIIM
The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial 
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial 
statements.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 1,599 2,481

Current liabilities 50 50

Net assets 1,549 2,431

Revenue 149 356

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (883) (697)

Dividends received from the associate during the year – –

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest 
in the associate recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets of CFIIM 1,549 2,431
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in CFIIM 29% 29%
The Group’s share of net assets of CFIIM 449 705
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:
Listed securities held for trading
– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (i) 15,221 45,803

Financial assets classified/designated at FVTPL:
– Unlisted equity investments (ii) 83,448 451,436

Total 98,669 497,239

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 15,221 45,803
Non-current assets 83,448 451,436

98,669 497,239

Notes:

(i) The fair values of listed securities are determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the 
relevant exchange at the end of the reporting period.

Particulars of the major components of the investment portfolio as at 30 June 2023, in terms of the carrying 
value of the respective individual investment, are as follows:

China City Infrastructure Group Limited (“China City Infrastructure”)
As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 436,079,429 shares (2022: 436,079,429 shares) in China City 
Infrastructure, representing approximately 13.94% (2022: 13.94%) of the issued share capital of China 
City Infrastructure. No dividend was declared and received during both years. As at 30 June 2023, the 
market value of the investment in the shares of China City Infrastructure was HK$14,391,000 (2022: 
HK$39,247,000).

Hidili Industry International Development Limited (“Hidili Industry”)
As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 2,555,000 (2022: 12,369,000) shares in Hidili Industry, representing 
approximately 0.06% (2022: 0.6%) of the issued share capital of Hidili Industry. Hidili Industry is principally 
engaged in coal mining and manufacture and sale of clean coal. No dividend was declared and received 
during both years. As at 30 June 2023, the market value of the investment in the shares of Hidili Industry 
was HK$830,000 (2022: HK$6,556,000).
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(ii) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following unlisted equity investments:

Name Notes

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
business Group’s effective interest Principal activities

2022 
Fair value

2022 
Cost

2023 
Fair value

2023 
Cost

2023 2022 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Micro-loan service:

Tianjin Rongshun Microfinance Limited 
(“Tianjin Rongshun”)

(a) The PRC 30% 30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

– 36,606 981 36,606

TIIC RongShun Micro-Loan Company 
Limited (“TIIC Rongshun”)

(b) The PRC – 10% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

– – 3,213 12,189

Harbin Zhongjinguoxin Microfinance Co., 
Ltd. (“Harbin Zhongjinguoxin”)

(c) The PRC 30% 30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

– 36,693 – 36,693

Tianjin Binlian Microfinance Limited 
(“Tianjin Binlian”)

(d) The PRC 3.3% 3.3% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

– 12,271 658 12,271

Ziyang Yanjiang CFI GuoSen 
Microfinance Co., Ltd. (“Ziyang 
Yanjiang”)

(e) The PRC 30% 30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

– 73,730 – 73,730

Nanjing Jiangning MingYangRongTong 
Agricultural Microfinance Co., Ltd. 
(“Nanjing Jiangning”)

(f) The PRC 30% 30% Provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services

– 36,673 2,614 36,673

Clean energy:

Henan Tianguan Energy and 
Biotechnology Company Limited 
(“Henan Tianguan”)

(g) The PRC 30% 30% Production and sales of 
denatured fuel ethanol, sales 
of acetone, butanol, polyols, 
production and sales of 
biodegradable plastic and 
biodiesel, sales of chemical 
products, wheat bran flour, 
feed sales, acetic acid and 
acetaldehyde production

38,725 230,763 132,963 230,763

Hunan South China New Energy Limited 
(“Hunan South China”)

(h) The PRC 30% 30% New energy technologies 
development, transfer and 
consultation, research and 
development, manufacturing 
and sales of chemical 
products, chemical reagents 
and auxiliaries (excluding 
hazardous chemicals and 
precursor chemicals)

– 51,200 27,934 51,200

Henan Keyi Huirui Energy and 
Biotechnology Company Limited 
(“Keyi Huirui”)

(i) The PRC 30% 30% Biotechnology energy technology 
development, transfer and 
consultation, research and 
development, manufacturing 
and sales of biotechnology 
energy and chemical 
equipment

– 117,450 86,224 117,450

Mengzhou Houyuan Biotechnology 
Limited (“Mengzhou Houyuan”)

(j) The PRC – 30% Biotechnology and ethanol bio-
chemical product development 
and production

– – 33,910 150,065

Tianguan New Energy Limited  
(“Tianguan New Energy”)

(k) The PRC – 5% Ethanol products transportation, 
development, trading and 
consultation service

– – 6,872 5,952

Henan Zhongxin Biotechnology Limited 
(“Zhongxin Biotechnology”)

(l) The PRC 30% 30% Production and sales of fuel 
ethanol and related products

13,030 52,084 41,219 52,084

Henan Zhongxin Petrochemical 
Oil Trading Limited (“Zhongxin 
Petrochemical Oil”)

(m) The PRC 30% 30% Operating refined petroleum 
products

20,147 52,084 52,873 52,084

Others:

Xi’an Kairong Financial Service Limited 
(“Xi’an Kairong”)

(n) The PRC 30% 30% Provision of financial management 
services

– 18,724 2,241 18,724

Jilin Jusheng Light Alloy Co. Ltd. 
(formerly known as Liaoyuan 
Hancheng Trading Limited)  
(“Jusheng Light Alloy”)

(o) The PRC 30% 30% Aluminium alloy strip, foil 
production and product 
processing

11,546 65,400 59,734 65,400

83,448 451,436
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)

(a) On 24 August 2011, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Tianjin Rongshun, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. Tianjin Rongshun is principally engaged in the provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services in Tianjin, the PRC.

(b) On 2 September 2011, the Group invested in a 10% equity interest of TIIC Rongshun, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. TIIC Rongshun is principally engaged in the provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services in Tianjin, the PRC.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group disposed of its entire interest of TIIC Rongshun at 
the consideration of RMB8,722,000 (equivalent to HK$10,122,000) to an independent third party.

(c) On 29 August 2011, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Harbin Zhongjinguoxin, a joint 
venture established in the PRC. Harbin Zhongjinguoxin is principally engaged in the provision of small 
loan and financial consultation services in Harbin, Heilongjiang Province, the PRC.

On 22 December 2016, the Company entered into a disposal agreement to dispose of all of its 
equity interest in Harbin Zhongjinguoxin to an independent third party for a cash consideration of 
Renminbi (“RMB”) 25,000,000. A deposit of HK$2,500,000 was received and still included as receipt 
in advance in “other payables and accruals” as at 30 June 2022 and 2023. As at 30 June 2023, in 
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the disposal transaction has yet been completed after 
12 months from the date of the disposal agreement but the transaction still be considered as valid.

(d) On 13 January 2012, the Group invested in a 10% equity interest of Tianjin Binlian, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. The Group’s equity interest in Tianjin Binlian was reduced to 3.3% on 
22  January 2014, as the registered capital of Tianjin Binlian was enlarged by the new registered 
capital subscribed by its other shareholders on that date. Tianjin Binlian is principally engaged in the 
provision of small loan and financial consultation services in Tianjin, especially Dongli District, the 
PRC.

(e) On 6 August 2012, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Ziyang Yanjiang, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. Ziyang Yanjiang is principally engaged in the provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services in Ziyang, Sichuan Province, the PRC.

(f) On 31 August 2012, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Nanjing Jiangning, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. Nanjing Jiangning is principally engaged in the provision of small loan and 
financial consultation services in Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

(g) On 11 May 2018, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Henan Tianguan, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. Henan Tianguan is principally engaged in production and sales of denatured 
fuel ethanol, sales of acetone, butanol, polyols, production and sales of biodegradable plastic and 
biodiesel, sales of chemical products, wheat bran flour, feed sales, acetic acid and acetaldehyde 
production.

(h) On 23 January 2019, Keyi (Shanghai) Investment Limited (“Keyi (Shanghai)”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company, invested in a 30% equity interest of Hunan South China with the capital 
contribution of RMB45,000,000. Hunan South China is engaged in new energy technologies 
development, transfer and consultation, research and development, manufacturing and sales of 
chemical products, chemical reagents and auxiliaries (excluding hazardous chemical and precursor 
chemicals).

(i) In August 2019, Keyi (Shanghai) entered into an agreement with three partners in relation to the 
formation of Keyi Huirui. The registered capital of Keyi Huirui is RMB350,000,000. Keyi (Shanghai) 
injected RMB105,000,000 for acquiring 30% of Keyi Huirui’s equity interest. Keyi Huirui is engaged in 
biotechnology energy technology development transfer and consultation research and development, 
manufacturing and sales of biotechnology energy and chemical equipment. On 5 September 2019, 
Keyi Huirui was officially set up.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Annual Report 2023 99

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)

(j) On 17 October 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with Hollys (China) Limited (“Hollys”) to 
obtain repayment of outstanding principal and interests accrued of the bonds issued by Hollys in 
return of the 30% equity interest investment in Mengzhou Houyuan.

Mengzhou Houyuan is principally engaged in development and production of biotechnology and 
ethanol bio-chemical products in Henan Province, the PRC.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group disposed of its entire interest of Mengzhou Houyuan 
at the consideration of RMB9,000,000 (equivalent to HK$9,723,000) to an independent third party.

(k) In October 2019, the Group invested in a 5% equity interest of Tianguan New Energy, a joint 
venture established in the PRC. Tianguan New Energy is principally engaged in ethanol products 
transportation, development and relevant consultation services in Huizhou, Guangdong Province, the 
PRC.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group disposed of its entire interest of Tianguan New 
Energy at the consideration of RMB500,000 (equivalent to HK$551,000) to an independent third 
party.

(l) On 16 March 2020, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Zhongxin Biotechnology, a joint 
venture established in the PRC. Zhongxin Biotechnology is principally engaged in production and 
sales of fuel ethanol and related products, the production and supply of electricity and heat, and the 
research, development and technical services of fuel ethanol and denatured fuel ethanol.

(m) On 16 March 2020, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Zhongxin Petrochemical Oil, 
a joint venture established in the PRC. Zhongxin Petrochemical Oil is principally operating refined 
petroleum products (such as vehicle ethanol gasoline, kerosene, diesel, natural gas) without storage 
facilities, selling food and chemical products, retail medicine and road cargo transport.

(n) On 18 December 2012, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Xi’an Kairong, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. Xi’an Kairong is principally engaged in the provision of financial management 
services to SMEs in Xi’an Economic Development Zone, Shaanxi Province, the PRC.

(o) On 11 June 2020, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Jusheng Light Alloy, which is 
principally engaged in food and agriculture products trading and warehouse management in Jilin 
Province, the PRC.

The fair values of all the above investments were determined by the directors of the Company with reference 
to the professional valuation carried out by GW Financial Advisory Services Limited, an independent external 
valuer not connected to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group held more than 20% of the effective shareholding interest in 
the above investee companies. The investments in these companies are not accounted for as associates 
as the Group had no significant influence over these companies. In accordance with the relevant written 
agreement/declaration signed between the Group and these investee companies as well as the other 
shareholders of the investee companies, the Group does not have the right to participate in its policy-making 
processes, to appoint directors nor management and to interchange of managerial personnel. Hence, all of 
these investments are not regarded as associates of the Group and are accounted for as financial assets at 
FVTPL for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.
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19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed investments:
– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note i) 8,646 23,580

Unlisted investments:
– Equity securities (note ii) 10,715 35,349

Total 19,361 58,929

Notes:

(i) Listed equity securities

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on 
the relevant exchange at the end of the reporting period.

Particulars of the investment as at 30 June 2023, in terms of the carrying value of the listed investment, are 
as follows:

China City Infrastructure
On 21 June 2016, the Company and China City Infrastructure, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, 
entered into the share subscription agreement to subscribe for 262,000,000 new shares of China City 
Infrastructure with a one-year lock-up period for a total subscription price of HK$131,000,000 at HK$0.50 
per share. The transaction was completed on 28 June 2016. At 30 June 2023, the 262,000,000 shares 
(2022: 262,000,000 shares) representing approximately 8.4% (2022: 8.4%) of the entire issued share capital 
in China City Infrastructure. China City Infrastructure is principally engaged in infrastructure businesses, 
property investment, property development, hotel business, property management and natural gas in 
the PRC. As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of the Group’s interest in China City Infrastructure was 
HK$8,646,000 (2022: HK$23,580,000).
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19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI
Notes: (continued)

(ii) Unlisted equity investments

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held the following unlisted equity investments:

Name Notes

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
business Group’s effective interest Principal activities

2022 
Fair value 2022 Cost

2023 
Fair value 2023 Cost

2023 2022 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Others:

Jiangxi Huazhang Hanchen Guarantee 
Group Limited (“Jiangxi Huazhang”)

(a) The PRC 2.06% 2.06% Provision of financing guarantees 
to small and medium 
enterprises (“SMEs”)

10,715 43,150 35,349 43,150

Shenzhen Zhongtoujinxin Asset 
Management Company Limited 
(“Zhongtoujinxin”)

(b) The PRC 30% 30% Provision of consultation services 
on project investments

– 18,350 – 18,350

10,715 35,349

(a) On 13 April 2011, the Group acquired a 30% equity interest of Jiangxi Huazhang, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. The Group’s equity interest in Jiangxi Huazhang became 7.2% on 15 July 
2013 and dropped to 2.98% on 19 August 2016 and further dropped to 2.06% on 23 September 
2021, as the registered capital of Jiangxi Huazhang was enlarged by the new registered capital 
subscribed by its other shareholders on those dates. Jiangxi Huazhang is principally engaged in the 
provision of financing guarantees to SMEs in the Jiangxi Province, the PRC.

(b) On 29 April 2011, the Group invested in a 30% equity interest of Zhongtoujinxin, a joint venture 
established in the PRC. The first contribution of RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,200,000) 
was made by the Company in 2011 and the second contribution of RMB9,000,000 (equivalent to 
HK$11,150,000) was made on 10 May 2012. Zhongtoujinxin is principally engaged in the provision 
of consultation services for project investments in the PRC.

The fair values of all of the above investments were determined by the directors of the Company with 
reference to the professional valuation carried out by GW Financial Advisory Services Limited, an 
independent external valuer not connected to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group held more than 20% of the effective shareholding interests 
in China City Infrastructure and Zhongtoujinxin. The investments in these companies are not accounted 
for as associates since the Group had no significant influence over them. In accordance with the relevant 
written agreement/declaration signed between the Group and the investee companies as well as the other 
shareholders of the investee companies, the Group does not have the right to participate in their policy-
making processes, to appoint directors nor management and to interchange of managerial personnel. 
Hence, this investments are not regarded as associates of the Group and are accounted for as equity 
instruments at FVTOCI for the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposit paid for potential investments (i) 10,000 10,000
Rental and utilities deposits 273 313
Prepayments for investments (ii) 29,092 –
Consideration receivable for disposal of an  

investment (iii) 9,723 –
Other receivables (iv) 3,715 1,607

52,803 11,920
Less: loss allowance (13,000) (2,500)

39,803 9,420
Prepayments 369 365

40,172 9,785

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 39,904 9,785
Non-current assets 268 –

40,172 9,785
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes:

(i) Deposit paid for potential investments

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Zhang Gui Qing (“Mr. Zhang”) (note (a)) 10,000 10,000

10,000 10,000
Less: loss allowance (10,000) (2,500)

– 7,500

(a) During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company entered into an agreement (“Agreement 1”) 
with an independent third party, Mr. Zhang. Pursuant to Agreement 1, Mr. Zhang is responsible 
for assisting to seek and recommend potential investments in the PRC to the Company with a 
term of three years, and the Company agreed to provide the deposit to Mr. Zhang amounted to 
HK$10,000,000 during the period as agreed, the deposit is refundable after the period expired 
and is interest free. During the year ended 30 June 2023, this contract’s three-years term expired 
in October 2022, although Mr. Zhang recommenced several investment projects to the Group, 
no suitable investment project was chosen by the Group. Hence, the Group made a request to 
Mr.  Zhang to refund the deposit in full. However, Mr. Zhang has yet refunded such deposit to the 
Group as at the end of the reporting period. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the 
collectability of this amount receivable from the Mr. Zhang was considered as low and the internal 
credit rating was determined as credit-impaired and an impairment loss of HK$7,500,000 (2022: nil) 
was made and recognised in profit of loss accordingly.

(ii) During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group made certain prepayments totaling HK$29,092,000 
(equivalent to RMB26,827,000) intended as capital injection for two unlisted investments. In the opinion of 
the directors of the Company, such amounts would be recorded as investment costs and included unlisted 
investment included in financial assets at FVTPL once all their existing investors fulfilling their capital call 
and the official capital registration procedure is completed. Subsequently, there was no additional capital 
injection made from other investors into these entities up to the end of reporting period, and hence the 
Group are in the process of retrieving these amounts from the two investees. However, such amounts have 
yet been received by the Group as of the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements.

(iii) During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group disposed its entire interest of Mengzhou Houyuan with the 
consideration of HK$9,723,000 (equivalent to RMB9,000,000) to an independent third party, in which the 
Group provided one-year credit period to this purchaser. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
the amount of this receivable is expected to be recoverable based on the assessment of the financial 
background of the purchaser. However, such amount has yet been received by the Group as of the date of 
issuance of these consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Included in the other receivables represented interest receivable of approximately HK$1,144,000 (2022: 
HK$1,144,000) from a bond issued by China City Infrastructure and an advance made to Zhongtoujinxin of 
approximately HK$2,053,000 (2022: nil). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the directors are in 
negotiating with the counterparties for repayment of the receivables to the Group, however, such amounts 
have yet been repaid to the Group and the impairment loss of HK$3,000,000 was made and recognised in 
the profit or loss.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short term deposits for the purpose of 
meeting the Group’s short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates range 
from 0% to 0.88% (2022: 0% to 0.03%) per annum.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group performed impairment assessment on bank 
balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant 
and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Receipts in advance 2,500 2,500
Accruals 10,564 11,108
Other payables 728 5,110

13,792 18,718

23. AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE
CFIIM is the investment manager of the Group and provides investment management services 
to the Group in relation to the Group’s investments. The amount represents the balance due to 
CFIIM that is unsecured, interest-free and at a credit term of 30 days from the invoice date.

24. BORROWING

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bond (unsecured) 9,997 9,997

The carrying amount of the above borrowing is repayable  
(based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 
agreements):

Within one year 9,997 9,997

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current liabilities – 9,997
Non-current liabilities 9,997 –

9,997 9,997
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24. BORROWING (continued)
Notes:

(a) As at 9 April 2020, the Group has entered into an extension agreement for the bond of HK$5,000,000 (the 
“Bond 1”) to extend the maturity date from 8 July 2020 to 7 July 2021.

(b) As at 9 April 2020, the Group has entered into an extension agreement for the bond of HK$5,000,000 (the 
“Bond 2”) to extend the maturity date from 12 November 2020 to 11 November 2021.

(c) As at 30 June 2021, the Group has entered into an agreement with the bond holder of Bond 1 and Bond 2 
(collectively referred to as the “Bond 3”) to combine two bonds with the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 
at an interest rate of 7% per annum with maturity date on 30 June 2023, effective from 1 July 2021.

(d) The Group has entered into a subscription agreement with the bond holder of Bond 3 for a bond with 
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond 4”) at an interest rate of 8% per annum with maturity date on 
30 June 2026, effective from 1 July 2023. The bond holder of Bond 3 agreed the Company to use Bond 4 to 
repay the Bond 3 matured on 30 June 2023.

25. LEASE LIABILITY

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liability payable:

Within one year 561 416
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding 

two years 602 –
Within a period of more than two year but not exceeding 

five years 371 –

1,534 416

Less: amounts due for settlement within 12 months shown  
under current liabilities (561) (416)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown  
under non-current liabilities 973 –

At 30 June 2023, the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liability is 
7.00% (2022: 5.75%) per annum.

The Group’s lease liability is denominated in the functional currency of the relevant group entities.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Number 
of shares

Share 
capital

‘000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023 30,000,000 300,000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023 10,971,634 109,717

27. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
The calculation of the net asset value per share is based on the net assets of HK$129,449,000 
(2022: HK$572,789,000) and 10,971,634,000 (2022: 10,971,634,000) issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares as at 30 June 2023.

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 January 2008 (the “Scheme”), 
options were granted to certain directors and consultants entitling them to subscribe for shares of 
the Company under the Scheme. The Scheme was approved and adopted by shareholders of the 
Company on 15 January 2008 (the “Date of Adoption”), whereby the directors of the Company 
are authorised, at their discretion, to invite full time employees of the Group, (including executive 
and non-executive directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and any suppliers, 
consultants, agents or advisers of the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the 
Company. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the 
Scheme, when aggregated with any shares subject to any other schemes, shall not exceed 10% 
of the issued share capital of the Company on the Date of Adoption.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)
On 15 December 2017, the Scheme was terminated and the new share option scheme (the “New 
Scheme”) was approved by the Shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting to 
replace the Scheme. The New Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years ending 
on 14 December 2027. The exercise price of the options under the New Scheme is determinable 
by the board of directors, but will be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange (as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotation sheets) on the offer date, which must be a business day;

(ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange (as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets) for the 5 business days immediately preceding 
the offer date; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the offer date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the 
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any 
time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval 
in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or 
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent 
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the 
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the 
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, 
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Scheme may be accepted within 21 days 
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. 
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ 
meetings.

The maximum number of the shares available for issue upon exercise of all share options which 
may be further granted under the New Scheme is 1,097,163,403 shares, representing 10% of the 
total number of issued shares of the Company on 15 December 2017.

No share options were granted under the New Scheme for both years.
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29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong 
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the 
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme (subject to 
a maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee) which contribution is matched by employees. 
Forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits of employees leaving the Group’s 
employment cannot be used to reduce ongoing contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are members of the state-managed 
retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required 
to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the 
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to 
make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$174,000 (2022: HK$71,000) represents 
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt 
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to 
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this 
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of 
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital 
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the 
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL
– Held-for-trading 98,669 497,239

Financial assets at amortised cost 11,317 49,020
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 19,361 58,929

129,347 605,188

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 11,010 15,245
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments, deposits and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other payables, amount due to an associate, 
borrowing and lease liability. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective 
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how 
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages and 
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC, with certain of their 
purchases and disposals of investments being settled in HK$ and RMB. The Group 
has foreign currency cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other receivables, 
financial assets at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI, borrowing, amount due 
to an associate, other payables and lease liability. The Group is thus exposed to 
currency risk arising from fluctuations on foreign currencies, primarily United States 
Dollars (“US$”) and HK$, against the functional currency of the relevant group 
entities. Management continuously monitors foreign exchange exposure and will 
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to 
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. Differences 
resulting from the translation of the financial statements of the entities within the 
Group into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

2023 2022
US$ HK$ US$ HK$

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at FVTPL – 15,221 – 45,803
Equity instruments at FVTOCI – 8,646 – 23,580
Deposits and other receivables 588 – 9,061
Cash and cash equivalents 24 299 24 152
Borrowing – (9,997) – (9,997)
Amount due to an associate – (285) – (138)
Lease liability – (1,534) – (416)
Other payables – (33) – (41)

Overall exposure to currency risk 24 12,905 24 68,004
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of reporting period to a 
reasonably possible change in the HK$ exchange rate against RMB for group entities 
with RMB as functional currencies, with all other variables held constant, of the 
Group’s loss for the year and accumulated losses.

(Decrease) 
increase 

in loss for 
the year 

and 
accumulated 

losses
% HK$’000

2023
If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 645
If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (645)

2022
If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 3,400
If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (3,400)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation 
of the instantaneous effects on each of the group entities’ loss for the year and 
accumulated losses measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into 
HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation 
purposes.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign 
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held 
by the Group, including intra-group balances with foreign operations within the 
Group denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the foreign 
operations, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the 
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for year ended 
30 June 2022.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

China Financial International Investments Limited112

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowing 
(see note 24 for details). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in 
relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note 21 for details). The Group manages 
its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest 
rate movements based on interest rate level and outlook.

Total interest income from financial assets that are measured at amortised cost is as 
follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income
Financial assets at amortised cost 12 13

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 700 700
Lease liability 57 45

757 745

No sensitivity analysis is performed as the directors of the Company consider that 
the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances 
is insignificant.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in equity securities 
measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI. For equity securities measured at FVTPL quoted in 
the Stock Exchange, management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio 
of investments with different risks. In addition, the Group also invested in certain 
unquoted equity securities for investees operating in various industry sectors for 
long term strategic purposes which had been designated as FVTOCI. The Group has 
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk 
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure to equity price 
risk at the reporting date. Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity securities with fair 
value measurement categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in note 31c.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 5% (2022: 5%) higher/
lower, the loss for the year ended 30 June 2023 would decrease/increase by 
HK$1,193,000 (2022: decrease/increase by HK$3,469,000) as a result of the 
changes in fair value of equity investments at FVTPL by HK$761,000 (2022: 
HK$2,290,000) and equity instruments at FVTOCI by HK$432,000 (2022: 
HK$1,179,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are 
primarily attributable to deposits and other receivables and bank balances. The Group does 
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated 
with its financial assets.

Deposits and other receivables
For deposits and other receivables, the management makes periodic individual assessment 
on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement 
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

Bank balances
The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several 
banks. The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the counterparties are banks 
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal 
credit rating Description All financial assets

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts.

12m ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but 
usually settle in full after due date.

12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in 
credit risk since initial recognition through 
information developed internally or external 
resources.

Lifetime ECL –  
not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired.

Lifetime ECL –  
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is 
in severe financial difficulty and the Group 
has no realistic prospect of recovery.

Amount is written off
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are 
subject to ECL assessment:

2023 Notes

External 

credit 

rating

Internal 

credit 

rating

12m or 

lifetime ECL

Gross 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000

Financial assets at amortised cost

Deposits and other receivables 20 N/A (note a) 12m ECL 10,711

(note a) Credit-impaired 13,000

23,711

Cash and cash equivalents 21 AA N/A 12m ECL 606

2022 Notes

External 

credit 

rating

Internal 

credit 

rating

12m or 

lifetime ECL

Gross 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000

Financial assets at amortised cost

Deposits and other receivables 20 N/A (note a) 12m ECL 11,920

Cash and cash equivalents 21 AA N/A 12m ECL 39,593
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Note:

(a) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to assess 
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

2023 Past due

Not past due/no 
fixed repayment 

terms Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits and other receivables 13,000 10,711 23,711

2022 Past due

Not past due/no 
fixed repayment 

terms Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits and other receivables – 11,920 11,920

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that have been recognised for deposits 
and other receivables.

12m ECL

Lifetime 
ECL (credit-

impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 2,500 – 2,500
Transfer to credit-impaired (2,500) 2,500 –
Impairment loss recognised – 10,500 10,500

At 30 June 2023 – 13,000 13,000

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash 
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations 
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

At 30 June 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$606,000 and net current 
assets of HK$26,896,000. Future cash flows from operating activities is dependent on 
realisation of the listed and unlisted investments. In order to continue funding future capital 
programmes, the Company may need to obtain additional equity or debt financing, or 
assess other options. The ability to access the required capital to maintain current financial 
position and cash flows is dependent on a variety of external factors.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity table

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate

On 
demand 

or 
less than 
1 month

1 month 
to 

1 year
1 to 2 
years

Over 2 
years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

at 
30 June 

2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023
Other payables – 728 – – – 728 728
Amount due to an 

associate – 285 – – – 285 285
Borrowing 7.00% 9,997 – – – 9,997 9,997
Lease liability 7.00% 54 596 650 325 1,625 1,534

11,064 596 650 325 12,635 12,544

As disclosed in note 24, the Group has entered into an agreement with the bond holder 
to combine two bonds with principal amount of HK$10,000,000 at an interest rate of 8% 
per annum with maturity date in 30 June 2026, effective from 1 July 2023. The borrowing 
will be repaid three years after the end of the reporting period in accordance with the 
scheduled repayment date set out in the loan agreement, detail of which are set out in the 
table below as at 30 June 2023:

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate

On 
demand 

or 
less than 
1 month

1 month 
to 

1 year
1 to 2 
years

Over 2 
years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

at 
30 June 

2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowing 8.00% 67 733 800 10,800 12,400 9,997

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate

On 
demand 

or 
less than 
1 month

1 month 
to 

1 year
1 to 2 
years

Over 2 
years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount 

at 
30 June 

2022
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022
Other payables – 5,110 – – – 5,110 5,110
Amount due to an 

associate – 138 – – – 138 138
Borrowing 7.00% 58 10,642 – – 10,700 9,997
Lease liability 5.75% 61 363 – – 424 416

5,367 11,005 – – 16,372 15,661
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial reporting 
purposes. In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the 
extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party 
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The management of the Group works closely with 
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to 
the model.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of 
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and 
inputs used).

Fair value hierarchy at 30 June 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity instruments at FVTOCI:
– Listed investments 8,646 – – 8,646
– Unlisted investments – – 10,715 10,715

Financial assets at FVTPL
– Listed securities 15,221 – – 15,221
– Unlisted equity investments – – 83,448 83,448

23,867 – 94,163 118,030

Fair value hierarchy at 30 June 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity instruments at FVTOCI:
– Listed investments 23,580 – – 23,580
– Unlisted investments – – 35,349 35,349

Financial assets at FVTPL
– Listed securities 45,803 – – 45,803
– Unlisted equity investments – – 451,436 451,436

69,383 – 486,785 556,168
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (continued)

Fair value

Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs Range/value Sensitivity of fair value to the input

Unlisted security classified as equity instruments at FVTOCI

Others 30 June 2023: 

HK$10,715,000 

30 June 2022: 

HK$35,349,000

Market 

comparable 

companies

Price to book ratio 

(“PB ratio”)

30 June 2023: 0.7208 

30 June 2022: 1

The fair values of companies are 

determined with reference to 

multiples of comparable listed 

companies, using the average of 

the PB ratios of comparables. The 

fair value measurement is positively 

correlated to the PB ratios. Had 

the highest PB ratio among the 

comparables been used as at 30 

June 2023, the Group’s OCI would 

have increased by HK$536,000 

(2022: HK$1,767,000). Had 

the lowest PB ratio among the 

comparables been used as at 30 

June 2023, the Group’s OCI would 

have decreased by HK$536,000 

(2022: HK$1,767,000).

Discounts for lack 

of marketability 

(“DLOM”)

30 June 2023: 70% 

30 June 2022: 50%

The fair values of companies are 

also determined with reference to 

DLOM. The fair value measurement 

is negatively correlated to the 

DLOM. Had the DLOM decreased 

by 5% as at 30 June 2023, 

the Group’s OCI would have 

increased by HK$1,786,000 (2022: 

HK$3,535,000). Had the DLOM 

increased by 5% as at 30 June 

2023, the Group’s OCI would have 

decreased by HK$ 1,786,000 

(2022: HK$3,535,000).



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2023

China Financial International Investments Limited120

Fair value

Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs Range/value Sensitivity of fair value to the input

Unlisted equity investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL

Micro-loan 

service

30 June 2023: nil

30 June 2022: 

HK$7,466,000

Market 

comparable 

companies

PB ratio 30 June 2023: 0.2242 

30 June 2022: 0.4743

The fair value is positively correlated 

to the PB ratios. Had the highest 

PB ratio among the comparables 

been used, the carrying amount 

would have increased by nil (2022: 

HK$373,300). Had the lowest 

PB ratio among the comparables 

been Used, the carrying amount 

would have decreased by nil (2022: 

HK$373,300).

DLOM 30 June 2023: 70% 

30 June 2022: 50%

The fair value is negatively correlated 

to the DLOM. Had the DLOM 

decreased by 5%, the carrying 

amount would have increased 

by nil (2022: HK$746,600). 

Had the DLOM increased by 

5%, the carrying amount would 

have decreased by nil (2022: 

HK$746,600).

Unlisted equity investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL

Others 30 June 2023: nil 

30 June 2022: 

HK$61,975,000

Market 

comparable 

companies

PB ratio (financial 

service) 

Ratio of enterprise 

value over 

earnings before 

interest, tax 

depreciation 

and amortization 

(“EV/EBITDA 

ratio”) (trading 

of agriculture 

product)

30 June 2023: 

(financial service: 

0.2566)

30 June 2022: 

(financial service: 

0.3212; trading of 

agriculture product: 

14.74)

The fair value is positively correlated 

to the PB and EV/EBITDA ratios. 

Had the highest PB and EV/EBITDA 

ratio among the comparables 

been used, the carrying amounts 

would have increased by nil 

(2022: HK$112,000). Had the 

lowest PB and EV/EBITDA ratio 

among the comparables been 

used, the carrying amount would 

have decreased by nil (2022: 

HK$112,000).

DLOM 30 June 2023: 70% 

30 June 2022: 50%

The fair value is negatively correlated 

to the DLOM. Had the DLOM 

decreased by 5%, the carrying 

amount would have increased 

by nil (2022: HK$224,000). 

Had the DLOM increased by 

5%, the carrying amount would 

have decreased by nil (2022: 

HK$224,000).

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (continued)
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Fair value

Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs Range/value Sensitivity of fair value to the input

Unlisted equity investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL

Clean energy 30 June 2023: 

HK$51,755,000 

30 June 2022: 

HK$322,250,000

Market  

comparable 

companies

EV/EBITDA ratio 30 June 2023:(ethanol 

producer: 4.11; 

ethanol trading: 

6.28)

30 June 2022: 

(ethanol producer: 

5.66; ethanol 

trading:7.12)

The fair values of companies are 

also determined with reference 

to multiples of comparable listed 

companies, using average of the 

EV/EBITDA ratios of comparables. 

The fair value measurement is 

positively correlated to the EV/

EBITDA ratios. Had the EV/

EBITDA ratio increased by 

5% as at 30 June 2023, the 

Group’s profit or loss would have 

increased by HK$1,548,000 

(2022: HK$12,201,000). Had 

EV/EBITDA ratio decreased by 

5% as at 30 June 2023, the 

Group’s profit or loss would have 

decreased by HK$1,548,000 (2022: 

HK$12,201,000).

DLOM 30 June 2023: 60% 

30 June 2022: 38%

The fair values of companies are 

also determined with reference to 

DLOM. The fair value measurement 

is negatively correlated to the 

DLOM. Had the DLOM decreased 

by 5% as at 30 June 2023, the 

Group’s profit or loss would have 

increased by HK$6,469,000 (30 

June 2022: HK$25,828,000). Had 

the DLOM increased by 5% as at 

30 June 2023, the Group’s profit 

or loss would have decreased by 

HK$6,469,000 (30 June 2022: 

HK$25,828,000).

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during both years.

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (continued)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Financial 
assets 

at FVTPL 
(unlisted)

Equity 
instruments 

at FVTOCI 
(unlisted) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening balance 451,436 35,349 486,785
Total losses:
– in profit or loss (333,601) – (333,601)
– in OCI – (24,634) (24,634)
– exchange realignment (13,992) – (13,992)
Disposals (20,395) – (20,395)

Closing balance 83,448 10,715 94,163

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Financial 
assets at 

FVTPL 
(unlisted)

Equity 
instruments 

at FVTOCI 
(unlisted) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening balance 654,067 31,157 685,224
Total losses:
– in profit or loss (189,492) – (189,492)
– in OCI – 4,192 4,192
– exchange realignment (6,799) – (6,799)
Disposals (6,340) – (6,340)

Closing balance 451,436 35,349 486,785
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)
Of the total losses for the year included in profit or loss, HK$311,818,000 (2022: 
HK$192,059,000) relates to financial assets at FVTPL held at the end of the current 
reporting period. Fair value gains or losses on financial assets at FVTPL are included 
in “fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL”.

Included in OCI are loss of HK$24,634,000 (2022: gain of HK$4,192,000) relating to 
unlisted equity securities classified as equity instruments at FVTOCI, held at the end 
of the current reporting period and are reported as changes of “financial assets at 
FVTOCI reserve”.

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recognised in financial statements approximate their fair values due to short 
maturity.

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which 
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of 
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Borrowing 
Lease 

liability
Total(note 24) (note 25)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 9,997 1,097 11,094
Financing cash outflows (700) (726) (1,426)
Finance costs 700 45 745

At 30 June 2022 9,997 416 10,413
Financing cash outflows (700) (695) (1,395)
New lease entered – 1,756 1,756
Finance costs 700 57 757

At 30 June 2023 9,997 1,534 11,531
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment management fee paid/payable to CFIIM (note i) 148 356

Note:

(i) An investment management agreement (the “Investment Management Agreement”) was entered into 
between the Company and CFIIM on 25 April 2014 to renew the appointment of CFIIM as the investment 
manager of the Company for a further period of three years effective from 29 April 2014 to 28 April 2017. 
Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, CFIIM is entitled to a management fee which is 
receivable monthly in arrears at the rate of 0.75% per annum of the aggregate market value of the portfolio 
managed by CFIIM on the last business day of each calendar month.

The Investment Management Agreement expired on 28 April 2017 and a new investment management 
agreement (the “2nd Investment Management Agreement”) was entered into accordingly on 26 April 2017 
to renew the appointment of CFIIM as the investment manager of the Company for a further period of 
three years effective from 29 April 2017 to 28 April 2022. Pursuant to the 2nd Investment Management 
Agreement, CFIIM is entitled to a management fee which is receivable monthly in arrears at the rate of 
0.75% per annum of the aggregate market value of the portfolio managed by CFIIM on the last business day 
of each calendar month.

The Investment Management Agreement expired on 28 April 2021 and a new investment management 
agreement (the “3rd Investment Management Agreement”) was entered into accordingly on 27 April 2020 
to renew the appointment of CFIIM as the investment manager of the Company for a further period of 
three years effective from 29 April 2021 to 28 April 2023. Pursuant to the 3rd Investment Management 
Agreement, CFIIM is entitled to a management fee which is receivable monthly in arrears at the rate of 
0.75% per annum of the aggregate market value of the portfolio managed by CFIIM on the last business day 
of each calendar month.

The Investment Management Agreement expired on 28 April 2023 and a new investment management 
agreement (the “4th Investment Management Agreement”) was entered into accordingly on 27 April 2023 
to renew the appointment of CFIIM as the investment manager of the Company for a further period of three 
years effective from 29 April 2023 to 28 April 2026. Pursuant to the 4th Investment Management Agreement, 
CFIIM is entitled to a management fee which is receivable monthly in arrears at the rate of 0.75% per annum 
of the aggregate market value of the portfolio managed by CFIIM on the last business day of each calendar 
month.

Investment management fees also constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are disclosed in the report 
of directors in the annual report.

The remuneration of directors of the Company who are considered as key management during the 
year is set out in note 11.

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee of 
the Company having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into new lease arrangement for the use 
of office for 3 years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use asset and 
lease liability of HK$1,756,000 (2022: nil).

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out 
below.

Name of subsidiary
Place of 
incorporation

Paid up issued/
registered 
capital

Proportion of ownership 
interest held directly by 

the Company
Principal activities and 

place of operation

2023 2022

Best Joy Asia Investment Limited The British  
Virgin Islands 
(the “BVI”)

US$1,000 100% 100% Inactive

CFII (Nanchang) The BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Inactive

China Financial International 
Investments (Haerbin) Limited

The BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Inactive

China Financial International 
Investments (Henan) Limited

The BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Inactive

Joy State Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding, Hong 
Kong

Keyi (Shanghai) The PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding, the 
PRC
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment – –
Right-of-use asset – –
Investments in subsidiaries 50,271 245,071
Interest in an associate 290 290
Financial assets at FVTPL 33,177 110,671
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 19,361 58,929
Amounts due from subsidiaries – 68,540
Deposit 268 –

103,367 483,501

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 8,282 9,398
Financial assets at FVTPL 15,221 45,803
Amounts due from subsidiaries – 313
Cash and cash equivalents 329 666

23,832 56,180

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 13,030 13,619
Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,597 3,455
Amount due to an associate 285 138
Tax payable 4,200 4,200
Borrowing 9,997 9,997
Lease liability 561 416

31,670 31,825

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (7,838) 24,355

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 95,529 507,856

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Lease liability 973 –

NET ASSETS 94,556 507,856

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 109,717 109,717
Reserves (15,161) 398,139

TOTAL EQUITY 94,556 507,856
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Capital 
reserve

Financial 
assets at 

FVTOCI 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

At 1 July 2021 2,067,672 278,979 2,766 (42,599) – (1,646,663) 660,155

Loss for the year – – – – – (257,300) (257,300)

Other comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – (4,716) – – (4,716)

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – (4,716) – (257,300) (262,016)

At 30 June 2022 2,067,672 278,979 2,766 (47,315) – (1,903,963) 398,139

Loss for the year – – – – – (367,667) (367,667)

Other comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – (39,568) (6,065) – (45,633)

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – (39,568) (6,065) (367,667) (413,300)

At 30 June 2023 2,067,672 278,979 2,766 (86,883) (6,065) (2,271,630) (15,161)

Notes:

(i) The contribution surplus represents share premium reduction. Under the Companies Law of Bermuda, the 
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or 
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of the contributed surplus if (i) it would after the payment, be 
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less 
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.

(ii) The capital reserve represents the waiver of an amount due to a shareholder in 2005.
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A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last 5 financial years, as extracted 
from the published audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS

Year ended 30 June

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 76 2,234 1,503 21,613 68,845

Loss before tax (387,171) (215,195) (66,513) (218,500) (326,783)
Income tax expense – – (132) – (780)

Loss for the year (387,171) (215,195) (66,645) (218,500) (327,563)
Other comprehensive  

(expense) income for  
the year, net of tax (56,169) (11,547) 50,459 (50,489) (44,725)

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year (443,340) (226,742) (16,186) (268,989) (372,288)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 30 June

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 159,257 606,258 834,381 902,306 1,166,192
Total liabilities (29,808) (33,469) (34,850) (86,589) (81,486)

Total equity 129,449 572,789 799,531 815,717 1,084,706

Five Year Financial Summary
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